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TEN is OUR 
COMPANY’s 
flAgshiP 
TElEvisiON 
ChANNEl 
and a brand 
synonymous 
with fresh, bold 
and innovative 
entertainment, 
news and sport 
programming.
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ABOUT
Ten Network Holdings

Ten Network is one of Australia’s three 
commercial free-to-air television networks. 
We are a commercial television trend-setter, delivering some of 
Australia’s most talked-about TV, including MasterChef Australia, 
The Biggest Loser, Offspring, Puberty Blues, Bikie Wars: Brothers 
In Arms, Homeland, Modern Family, The Project, Underground 
– The Julian Assange Story and Neighbours.

Ten Network operates three free-to-air television channels 
(TEN, ELEVEN and ONE) in Australia’s five mainland 
metropolitan markets of Sydney, Melbourne, Adelaide, Brisbane 
and Perth, and several websites, led by www.ten.com.au. 

TEN is the destination for family 
entertainment with a focus on viewers 
aged 18 to 49. TEN is the home of 
“big event” TV and features a mix of 
local and international dramas, light 
entertainment, comedies and factual 
series, as well as news, sport and current 
affairs. TEN is broadcast in Standard 
Definition digital and analogue and is 
online at ten.com.au. 

ELEVEN is the home of fun and 
bold entertainment for a distinctly 
youthful audience. ELEVEN features 
a mix of Australian and international 
programming for viewers aged 16 to 39, 
including premium drama, comedy and 
animated series. ELEVEN is broadcast in 
Standard Definition digital and is online 
at eleven.com.au. 

ONE is the home of premium 
entertainment for men aged 25 to 54. 
ONE features a mix of premium factual 
programs and movies, along with 
action and adventure programming 
and premium sport. ONE is broadcast 
in High Definition digital and is online 
at one.com.au. 
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Operational
highlighTs

SOURCES
OzTAM, 5 City Metro, Week 7 – Tuesday of Week 43 2012 (excl. Easter & Olympics), Based on Consolidated data to 16th October 
2012, Overnight Data from 17th October 2012 to 23rd October 2012, 18:00-22:30, Sun-Sat. MasterChef Australia 2012 Series 
average excludes “Masterclass” episodes. Any reference to or reporting of data in this release must be sourced OzTAM. 
Copyright in the Data is owned by OzTAM, and the Data may not be reproduced, published or communicated (electronically 
or in hard copy) without the prior written consent of OzTAM. Omniture.

S865M

GROUp REVENUE GROUp EBITDA

S94M
MASTERCHEF AUSTRALIA

The Winner 
Announced

Finale 
Night

2012 
Series

THE BIGGEST LOSER 

The Winner 
Announced

Finale 
Night

2.31M
1.98M
1.3M

1.52M
1.46M

BIKIE WARS: 
BROTHERS IN ARMS

1.17M 
 
OFFSpRING

1.01M
UNDERGROUND– 
THE JULIAN ASSANGE STORy

1.47M
AUSTRALIAN 
FORMULA ONE 2012

1.37M

ELEVEN AND ONE

#1 digital multi-channel 
combination in 18 to 49s, 
16 to 39s, 25 to 54s

DIGITAL TEN

Video 
Views

Puberty Blues 
Video Views

100.2M
5.5M

4 TEN NETWOrk 
HOLDiNgS LiMiTED

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



5OPErATiONAL 
HigHLigHTS

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



Dear fellow shareholders,
2012 has been a year marked by 
significant challenges and many 
changes at Ten Network Holdings, 
as we continue to reshape your 
Company and work to improve its 
performance for all shareholders.
During the year, we welcomed several new members of our 
Executive Team, conducted an equity raising, sold our out-
of-home business Eye Corp, invested in new and innovative 
programming and struck key new partnership and distribution 
deals for our digital media division, all while resetting our cost 
base down to leverage future revenue growth.

Around the world, most media companies have faced difficult 
conditions. Low business confidence has adversely affected 
advertising expenditure in many countries, while the ongoing 
fragmentation of consumers’ media and entertainment 
consumption habits continues to create new challenges – and, 
of course, opportunities. 

Media companies both here and overseas are being forced 
to adapt and change the way they deliver content to their 
audiences, to keep up-to-date with evolving technologies and 
to ensure audiences receive the content they want, when they 
want it, on whatever device they want to use, in any location. 

in January 2012, your Board welcomed James Warburton 
as Chief Executive Officer. James is one of the best media 
executives in Australia and he quickly identified several 
key priorities, including building the Company’s senior 
management team, and investing in the creative renewal 
of our content offering.  

The Company acknowledges our ratings and revenue in 
2012 were not what we expected, and that our programming 
schedule on the primary TEN channel did not perform 
as hoped. At any time this is unacceptable, let alone in a 
weakened advertising market. 

The Board believes that the Company has been responsive 
and is taking immediate action to address its ratings and 
financial performance. 

The Company took several considered measures this year 
to ensure the future success of Ten Network.

REviEW
Chairman’s

LACHLAN MURDOCH
Chairman
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SALE OF EyE CORp AND 
RENOUNCEABLE RIGHTS ISSUE
in May the Board decided it was 
appropriate, having regard to the 
corporate activities in the Australian 
out-of-home market and approaches 
from a number of parties, to consider 
the opportunities to sell Eye Corp, our 
out-of-home advertising company. 

While many of the assets that sit within 
Eye Corp are of the very best quality, the 
Board decided that outdoor media does 
not necessarily fit well into a creative, 
consumer driven media company 
such as Ten Network, and considering 
the other strategic imperatives for 
the Company, we should accept a 
reasonable offer for Eye Corp.

The proceeds from the sale, which 
was completed in November, will be 
used to pay down debt and provide 
financing flexibility.

in June, the Company announced 
an underwritten 3-for-8 accelerated 
renounceable entitlement offer of new 
TEN shares. The Board felt this was an 
important step in the turnaround of Ten 
Network, given the uncertain revenue 
environment and our programming 
renewal and investment strategy. 

The fully underwritten offer comprised 
an institutional and retail component. 
The institutional component involved 
the placement of 315 million shares, with 
gross proceeds of approximately $161 
million. The retail component involved 
the placement of 76.7 million shares, 
with gross proceeds of approximately 
$39 million.

The Board appreciates that eligible 
shareholders holding 82.74% of the 
shares on issue prior to the Offer took 
up their entitlements. As a fellow 
shareholder who took up my full 
entitlement, i thank you for continuing to 
support the Company and for investing 
in its future. The funds received from the 
equity raising were used to strengthen 
the Company’s balance sheet, to provide 
future financing flexibility, and to 
continue our investment in top quality 
content for our viewers.

FINANCIAL pERFORMANCE
The Company’s results for the 
12 months to August 31 reflected the 
difficult conditions in the television 
and out-of-home advertising markets 
and our disappointing television 
ratings performance. 

Television is not, of course, the only 
media sector that has experienced tough 
times over the past 12 to 18 months: 
most media have been affected by the 
downturn in companies’ marketing 
budgets, particularly companies in 
industries such as retail, financial services 
and fast-moving consumer goods. 

The softer television advertising market 
and our softer ratings, coupled with 
the one-off impact of the London 
Olympics games, saw revenue in the 
Company’s television division decline 
14.5% to $728 million during the 2012 
financial year. The out-of-home division’s 
revenue decreased 7.6% to $137.2 million, 
reflecting both the softer advertising 
conditions and also the added 
uncertainty created by the sale process. 

Earnings before interest, tax, 
depreciation and amortisation (EBiTDA) 
from the television division were down 
46.5%, to $82.4 million, for the 2012 
financial year. The out-of-home division 
recorded a 36.9% decline in EBiTDA, 
to $11.6 million. 

in April, the Company indicated its 
full-year television costs would decline 
approximately 5%, or about $30 million. 
Thanks to a stringent cost-control 
program and the ongoing benefits of 
the Operational and Strategic review 
that started in 2011, the actual decline 
was 6.6% (excluding selling costs), 
or $42 million. 

STRATEGIC, OpERATING AND 
NEWS REVIEW
Despite the ongoing benefits of the 
review that began in 2011, the Board 
and management saw the need to 
further reset our cost base in order to 
strengthen the position of the company. 
The release of the Company’s 2012 
results in October was accompanied 
by the first public discussion that a 
Strategic, Operating and News review 
had started earlier in the year. The 
review covers all parts of Ten Network 
and is designed to reduce costs, improve 
efficiencies and – in many areas – change 
the way we conduct business. As with 
the 2011 review, the key imperative 
of the Strategic, Operating and News 
review is to substantively reduce our 
cost base without any deterioration 
to the viewing experience on TEN or 
our highly successful digital channels 
ELEVEN and ONE.

The environment in which we operate 
is very challenging and we need to 
act accordingly. The review is an 
essential part of the Board and the 
Executive Team’s strategy to create 

a sustainable business model for the 
Company and ensure we can continue 
to invest in renewing and rebuilding its 
creative content. 

The review will not affect our 
investment in top quality programming, 
indeed funds freed up by the review will 
be partly reinvested in programming, 
which will always remain the Company’s 
top priority. As a result of the review,  
we are forecasting television cost growth 
in line with the Consumer Price index 
during the 2013 financial year.

RATINGS AND REVENUE
With costs once again under strict 
control, management is focused on 
the key drivers of our business: ratings 
and revenue.

Our three channels hold distinct 
and highly valuable positions in the 
Australian media market. Our newest 
channel ELEVEN has been brilliantly 
successful in the younger demographics 
and is the envy of our competitors. The 
refocused ONE is also doing an excellent 
job attracting a large audience of 25 
to 54 year old men, its target market. 
And whilst TEN has clearly struggled 
this year in ratings, there is no hiding 
from that, the Board has great faith in 
the leadership and vision of Beverley 
Mcgarvey, our newly appointed Chief 
Programming Officer. Beverley’s sound 
experience and her keen instinct give 
us great confidence that we will see 
improved ratings across all our channels 
in the year ahead.

TEN remains focused on the under 
50-year-old market that is so highly 
sought after by our advertising partners. 
While our competitors skew older, we 
cannot allow ourselves to give up this 
critical, and valuable, point of difference. 

in 2013 we will build on our successful 
franchises such as MasterChef and The 
Biggest Loser with returning series of 
high quality Australian dramas such as 
Offspring and Puberty Blues. We will also 
be debuting Mr and Mrs Murder, starring 
Shaun Micallef and kat Stewart, and 
Reef Doctors, starring Lisa McCune. Our 
growing investment in Australian drama 
will complement our strong overseas 
shows, most notably NCIS and NCIS: 
Los Angeles, The Good Wife, Glee, New 
Girl, and of course the Emmy Award 
winners, Modern Family and Homeland. 
We also have high hopes for new shows 
Elementary and Ripper Street and are 
excited about the return to Australian 
broadcast television of American Idol.

Chairman’s Review Continued

8 TEN NETWOrk 
HOLDiNgS LiMiTED

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



ThE fUNds RECEivEd fROM ThE EqUiTY 
RAisiNg WERE UsEd TO sTRENgThEN 
ThE COMPANY’s BAlANCE shEET, 
to provide future financing flexibility, and to continue 
our investment in top quality content for our viewers.

THE BOARD
in February, the Company announced 
changes to the Board of Directors, with 
my appointment as Non-Executive 
Chairman and Brian Long’s appointment 
as Deputy Chairman and Lead 
independent Director. in this important 
new role Brian has continued to serve 
the company tremendously.

i wish to thank Brian for his leadership  
of the Board during the previous  
12 months and for agreeing to accept 
the role of Deputy Chairman and Lead 
independent Director. During his time 
as Chairman, Brian introduced several 
improvements in the Board’s governance 
processes; improvements that will 
continue to ensure good governance 
and transparency in management. 

in June, the Board appointed Siobhan 
Mckenna as a Director of the Company. 
As a nominee of interests associated 
with James Packer, Siobhan brings to 
the Board extensive media experience. 
A former Partner of management 
consulting firm Mckinsey & Company 
and a former Non-Executive Director 
of Prime Media group, Siobhan is 
Managing Partner of my investment 
company illyria, Non-Executive Director 
of DMg radio Australia, Non-Executive 
Director of NBN Co, Commissioner of 
the Productivity Commission (currently 
on leave of absence), and Non-Executive 
Director of The Australian Ballet.

Moving forward into 2013 the Board 
will continue to set the strategic 
direction of the Company and closely 
monitor management’s execution 
of that strategy. We aim to do this 
always with the backdrop of proper 
governance controls. good governance 
is an absolute priority for the Board 
which we believe is in the interests of 
all shareholders.

The Audit Committee under Chairman 
Paul gleeson has been, and will continue 
to be, focused on our balance sheet, our 
financial reporting, our key risk factors 
and their management, and also all other 
matters relating to corporate finance. 
in addition, this year a special ‘Due 
Diligence’ committee, comprising Brian 
Long and David gordon, was formed to 
steer the due diligence process for our 
renounceable rights issue.

The remuneration Committee under 
Chairman Jack Cowin is currently 
reviewing the Company’s short and  
long term incentive plan with the aim  
to replace it with a plan better aligned  
to shareholder interests.

And finally the Board renewal 
Committee, under Chairman Brian 
Long, will continue to monitor Board 
performance and review the size and 
constitution of the Board in order to 
ensure that your Board is appropriately 
constructed.

OUR pEOpLE
All of us on the Board would like to 
thank Ten Network staff for their 
dedication and commitment to the 
Company during what has been a 
challenging 12 months. Their hard work 
this year has been critical in enabling  
us to set our business up for success  
in 2013 and beyond.

On behalf of the Board i would also like 
to thank James Warburton for his hard 
work, dedication and leadership since 
his commencement as Chief Executive 
Officer in January 2012. i would also 
like to acknowledge the efforts of 
James’s Executive Team, many of whom 
also joined the Company during 2012. 
They have worked extremely hard and 
continue to inspire their teams to deliver 
results under difficult circumstances. 

While the financial performance of the 
Company this year is not acceptable to 
the Board, nor, i believe, to shareholders, 
it is not reflective of the huge effort 
expended by our extraordinarily 
hardworking employees.

The Board and i also wish to thank you, 
our shareholders, for your commitment 
to the Company throughout the year. 

2013
There is no question that Ten Network 
Holdings enters 2013 as a different 
company than it was just 12 short 
months ago. We have a management 
team focused on ratings and revenue 
after having made the hard decisions 
and done the work resetting our cost 
base and shedding Eye Corp. We have a 
successful capital raising behind us and 
an exciting and promising slate of new 
and returning programs ahead of us. 

We are looking forward to the 
year ahead. 

Lachlan Murdoch 
Non-Executive Chairman
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in my first week as Chief Executive Officer, i said the creative 
renewal of our content offering was a critical priority. That view 
has not changed and we have been working hard this year to 
refresh and expand our content, across all platforms. 

As a television network, we get a report card at 8.35am every 
day, when the overnight television ratings arrive. it is obvious 
that some of our content this year has not resonated with 
Australians. That has had a direct impact on our financial 
performance and the value of the Company. 

But we must not and will not be dissuaded from the creative 
renewal process, or the continued investment we are making  
in our programming schedule.

There were moments this year when we got it right. 
MasterChef, MasterChef All Stars, The Biggest Loser, Offspring, 
Homeland, Modern Family, Bikie Wars: Brothers In Arms, 
Underground – The Julian Assange Story, Puberty Blues and 
other programs are good examples of the type of content that 
strikes a chord with viewers and advertisers. 

My job is to ensure that those moments happen more 
consistently, are organised in a way which logically builds 
audience flows across each night of the week, and provide 
a platform which avoids the volatility we have experienced 
at times.

in January, we started the process of re-setting our prime-time 
program line-up, with a particular focus on the early-evening, 
or 5pm to 8pm, period.

This year we have seen audience growth in weekday early 
evenings, thanks, in part, to the success of The Project, which 
remains the most innovative current affairs program on 
television and is resonating strongly with younger viewers.

Also in January we launched Super Sunday, lifting our Sunday 
night performance in the first half of the 2012 ratings year. 
Ensuring we give viewers a compelling reason to tune into  
TEN on Sunday nights is one of the top priorities for 2013. 

in late October, we held a series of “upfront” presentations  
to more than 1,200 advertisers and agency executives in the 
five mainland capital cities. 

JAMES WARBURTON
Chief Executive Officer

REviEW

Chief
Executive 
Officer’s 

It is with great 
pleasure I write 
to you as Chief 

Executive Officer 
of Ten Holdings, 

a role I took up in 
January 2012.
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ThE AUdiENCE Of 
ONE hAs MORE ThAN 
dOUBlEd siNCE MAY 2011,  

when it was relaunched 
as a general entertainment 
channel aimed at 
men aged 25 to 54. 
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The aim of the presentations was simple: 
to give our key customers clarity around 
our brand and programming strategy, 
and to provide them with a blueprint for 
TEN for 2013. The key messages were 
also simple: in 2013 we will deliver a 
consistent, stable prime-time program 
schedule across the 40 weeks of the 
ratings year.

TEN has some unique characteristics. 
Just under 70% of its audience is aged 
under 50. it is the “youngest” primary 
free-to-air television channel, with a 
median age of 41. Our audience profile  
is fundamentally different to the profile 
of the other commercial networks. 

Two years ago, Ten Network had a failed 
digital multi-channel strategy. Now we 
have a successful one. 

The audience of ONE has more than 
doubled since May 2011, when it was 
relaunched as a general entertainment 
channel aimed at men aged 25 to 54. 
ELEVEN is the youngest commercial 
free-to-air channel in this country, with 
a strong following among people 16 
to 39. Together, ONE and ELEVEN are 
the number one digital multi-channel 
combination among people 18 to 49,  
16 to 39 and 25 to 54*. 

We know what TEN is now, but what  
do we want it to be? 

The programming highlights of 2013 
will build on the Company’s reputation 
for providing smart, different and 
authentic content. 

key program franchises for next year 
include MasterChef Australia, the 
compelling spin-off MasterChef: 
The Professionals, The Biggest Loser: 
The Next Generation and an innovative 
new reality series, Recipe to Riches. 

TEN will run a record number of 
Australian drama hours in 2013, including 
new seasons of Offspring and Puberty 
Blues, and the new series Mr and Mrs 
Murder, Reef Doctors and Secrets & Lies: 
The Track. Other new local programs 
on TEN next year will include Shock 
of the Now and Hamish Macdonald’s 
The Truth Is. 

We have strong, successful relationships 
with our united States partners, 20th 
Century Fox and CBS, which deliver 
standout programs such as Modern 
Family, Homeland, New Girl, NCIS, 
NCIS: Los Angeles, The Good Wife 
and Glee. Our new uS shows for 2013 
include Elementary and The Americans, 
while from Britain comes the highly 
anticipated Ripper Street. 

Consistency and stability were two of 
the key fundamentals we focused on 
when creating the 2013 program line-up. 
The “one bet, one punch” mentality 
of old is gone. We must establish a 
consistent schedule that builds audience 
numbers week in, week out, every single 
night of the ratings year.

Content, of course, extends beyond 
the television screen. This year we have 
worked hard to expand the Company’s 
digital media presence. 

in July we announced a partnership with 
the British company zeebox Ltd to launch 
its world-class app in Australia. Zeebox 
Australia is an exciting joint venture and 
a key part of Ten Network’s digital media 
strategy. We know viewer behaviour is 
changing and our audiences are multi-
tasking, and we see a great opportunity 
for a network-agnostic, second-screen 
app in the Australian market.

As noted in the Chairman’s review, in 
October we told our shareholders and 
staff about a Strategic, Operating and 
News review. The review was prompted 
by our trading performance and the 
recognition that we need to create a 
more sustainable cost base and business 
model for the Company.

The review covers all parts of Ten 
Network. The resultant changes included 
the announcement of a new operating 
model for our News and Operations 
division, including the introduction of 
a centralised news desk and the move 
to greater consistency in the look, tone 
and structure of our TEN News At Five 
bulletins around the country. The 
changes will ensure our bulletins offer 
viewers the best of local, national and 
foreign news.

Our News and Operations departments 
now work as one team nationally to 
produce a highly credible and respected 
news service which is competitive with 
– and offers a real alternative to – our 
commercial rivals. i am confident our 
news service will continue to improve.

unfortunately, the review also included 
a voluntary redundancy program 
in News and Operations. i don’t like 
seeing job losses, but sadly they were 
necessary. To the people who departed 
as a result of the review, please accept 
my sincere thanks for your contribution 
to Ten Network. Your commitment and 
work has been appreciated and we 
wish you well. 

A number of senior executives left the 
Company during 2011 and more have 
left this year. Since January, we have put 
together a new Executive Team. That 
team and the many talented people who 
work for Ten Network are focusing hard 
on building the Company. Thank you to 
all our staff around the country for their 
commitment, enthusiasm and resilience. 

it was been an interesting, often 
challenging, first year for me at Ten 
Network. Despite the challenges, 
i remain committed to turning the 
Company around through improved 
ratings, revenue and cost management.

James Warburton
Chief Executive Officer 

*  SOurCE: OZTAM, five city metropolitan, weeks 
7-43, 2012, 1800-2230, Sunday to Saturday.

This year we have seen audience 
growth in weekday early evenings, 
thanks, in part, to the success of 
The Project, which remains the most 
innovative current affairs program 
on television and is resonating 
strongly with younger viewers.

Chief Executive Officer’s Review Continued
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COMMUNITy 
Ten Network is committed to 
supporting the community and 
operates in partnership with a diverse 
range of foundations and not-for-profit 
organisations. We support the 
community through:

Community partnerships with the 
not-for-profit sector. Ten Network 
supports nine national charities: 
Beyond Blue, Swags For Homeless, 
OzHarvest, headspace, Amnesty 
international, AiDS Trust of Australia, 
red Dust, Prostate Cancer Foundation 
and Planet Ark. We are committed 
to developing community leadership 
and our support comes in the way of 
valuable on-air promotional space, 
editorial segments within our programs 
and fundraising initiatives at a national 
and local level. 

Community Service Announcements 
which promote charitable causes 
through on-air promotional campaigns. 
Each week we devote airtime to 
support a range of charitable programs 
and causes. We also offer technical 
assistance including script writing, 
filming and editing support.

Staff support of charity fundraisers 
and events. Over the past 12 months, 
Ten Network staff have participated in a 
number of charitable fundraising events 
including The Sun-Herald City2Surf in 
Sydney and ride To Conquer Cancer in 
Sydney, Melbourne and Brisbane, and 
held staff BBQs nationally to raise funds 
for the Prostate Cancer Foundation as 
part of their Big Aussie BBQ initiative. 

Internship program which supports 
media and communications students 
from a range of universities and TAFE 
colleges. The internship program 
was first introduced in Ten Network’s 
Melbourne television station in 2009, 
to find media and communications staff 
who could enter the workforce well 
trained in the systems and technology 
currently being used in the industry. 
The internship program is now also  
in place in Sydney and Adelaide.

AWARDS
Across the 2012 financial year, 
Ten Network was the recipient of a 
number of national and local awards. 
These included:

•	 international Variety Award 
(TEN News Adelaide) which 
acknowledged the outstanding 
support and commitment to the 
Variety Bash over the past many years.

•	 Two prestigious prizes at the 
Clarion Media Awards 
(TEN News Queensland).

•	 A gold and silver at the 2012 Promax 
Awards (Best Copy/Scriptwriting for 
Animation Fixation and Best reality 
Promo for The Biggest Loser), 
plus an additional three nominations.

•	 The 2012 united Nations Award of 
Australia Media Peace Award for Best 
TV-News.

•	 Two finalists in the 2012 
kennedy Awards for Excellence 
in NSW Journalism.

•	 A nomination in the 2012 
Young Walkley Awards. 

•	 Beverley Mcgarvey was honoured  
with a Content Trendsetters Award  
at 2012 MiPCOM in Cannes.

COMMUNiTY,
AWARds, 
Environment 
& Sustainability
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ENVIRONMENT 
Ten Network is serious about the 
environment, and, in particular, 
climate change. in 2010, we launched 
a community environmental initiative 
called Making Your Mark.

Making Your Mark has two 
clear objectives: 

•	 Adjust our decision making 
and behaviour to improve our 
environmental performance. 

•	 inform and influence our viewers, 
employees, partners and clients 
on important environmental issues 
and encourage them to make a 
positive difference.

SUSTAINABILITy
The guiding principle behind Ten 
Network’s environmental initiative is 
sustainability, as we review our plans and 
practices to ensure they are meaningful, 
financially sound and contribute to the 
overall success of the company.

The refurbishment of our Sydney 
station during the 2012 financial year 
incorporated a range of environmental 
benefits, such as a more efficient 
and zone-controlled lighting system, 
improved water efficiency fixtures 
and fittings, rainwater harvesting, 
more efficient equipment for heating, 
ventilation and air-conditioning, 

and building design features that 
accommodate more natural light 
and ventilation. These complement 
energy and water efficiency and 
waste management practices at each 
television station.

Ten Network remains a member  
of the FTSE4good Sustainability 
investment index. We participate in  
the Carbon Disclosure Project, the 
biggest international reporting tool for 
managing a corporation’s carbon risk.

Ten Network is committed to supporting the 
community and operates in partnership with a diverse 
range of foundations and not-for-profit organisations. 

15COMMuNiTY, AWArDS, 
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the Board of Directors of ten network Holdings 
Limited (“the Company”) is committed to responsible 
corporate governance in accordance with community 
and shareholder expectations.

In determining the standards that the Company should seek 
to achieve, the Company has reviewed, with the assistance 
of external advisers, its practices in terms of the revised 
Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations 
which were issued by the aSX Corporate Governance 

Council and took effect for the first financial year of 
the Company commencing on or after 1 January 2011 
(“the aSX Guidelines”).

the Company considers that its practices are generally 
consistent with those contained in the aSX Guidelines 
(except where referred to below).

In summary, compliance with the aSX Guidelines has 
been achieved as follows:

ASX PrinciPle comPliAnce

Principle 1: lay solid foundations for management and oversight

1.1 Companies should establish the functions reserved to the board and those delegated to 
senior executives and disclose those functions.

Comply

1.2 Companies should disclose the process of evaluating the performance of senior executives. Comply

1.3 Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 1. Comply

Principle 2: Structure the board to add value

2.1 a majority of the board should be independent directors. Comply

2.2 the chair should be an independent director. explain

2.3 the roles of chair and chief executive officer should not be exercised by the same individual. Comply

2.4 the board should establish a nomination committee. Comply

2.5 Companies should disclose the process for evaluating the performance of the board, its 
committees and individual directors.

Comply

2.6 Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 2. Comply

Principle 3: Promote ethical and responsible decision‑making

3.1 Companies should establish a code of conduct and disclose the code or a summary of the 
code as to:

•	 the practices necessary to maintain confidence in the company’s integrity,

•	 the practices necessary to take into account their legal obligations and the reasonable 
expectations of their stakeholders, and

•	 the responsibility and accountability of individuals for reporting and investigating 
reports of unethical practices.

 

Comply

Comply

 
Comply

3.2 Companies should establish a policy concerning diversity and disclose the policy or a 
summary of that policy. the policy should include requirements for the board to establish 
measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity and for the board to assess annually 
both the objectives and progress in achieving them.

Under review

3.3 Companies should disclose in each annual report the measurable objectives for achieving 
gender diversity.

Under review

3.4 Companies should disclose in each annual report the proportion of woman employees in 
the whole organisation, women in senior executive positions and women on the board.

Comply

3.5 Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 3. Comply

Principle 4: Safeguard integrity in financial reporting

4.1 the board should establish an audit committee. Comply

4.2 the audit committee should be structured so that it:

•	 consists only of non‑executive directors

•	 consists of a majority of independent directors

•	 is chaired by an independent chair, who is not chair of the board

•	 has at least three members.

Comply

4.3 the audit committee should have a formal charter. Comply

4.4 Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 4. Comply

Corporate Governance
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Corporate Governance continued

ASX PrinciPle comPliAnce

Principle 5: make timely and balanced disclosure

5.1 Companies should establish written policies designed to ensure compliance with aSX 
Listing rule disclosure requirements and to ensure accountability at senior executive level 
for that compliance and disclose those policies or a summary of those policies.

Comply

5.2 Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 5. Comply

Principle 6: respect the rights of shareholders

6.1 Companies should design a communications policy for promoting effective communication 
with shareholders and encouraging their participation at general meetings and disclose 
that policy or a summary of that policy.

Comply

6.2 Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 6. Comply

Principle 7: recognise and manage risk

7.1 Companies should establish policies for the oversight and management of material 
business risks and disclose a summary of those policies.

Comply

7.2 the board should require management to design and implement the risk management 
and internal control system to manage the company’s material business risks and report 
to it on whether those risks are being managed effectively. the board should disclose that 
management has reported to it as to the effectiveness of the company’s management of its 
material business risks.

Comply

7.3 the board should disclose whether it has received assurance from the chief executive 
officer (or equivalent) and the chief financial officer (or equivalent) that the declaration 
provided in accordance with s295a of the Corporations act is founded on a sound system 
of risk management and internal control and that the system is operating effectively in all 
material respects in relation to financial reporting risks. 

Comply

7.4 Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 7. Comply

Principle 8: remunerate fairly and responsibly

8.1 the board should establish a remuneration committee. Comply

8.2 the remuneration committee should be structured so that it:

•	 consists of a majority on independent directors

•	 is chaired by an independent director

•	 has at least three members

Comply

8.3 Companies should clearly distinguish the structure of non‑executive directors’ 
remuneration from that of executive directors and senior executives. 

Comply

8.3 Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 8. Comply

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



19Corporate 
GovernanCe

the Company is pleased to report in detail below on its 
performance in regard to the recommendations contained 
in the aSX Guidelines as they relate to the Company and its 
subsidiaries (“the consolidated entity”).

PrinciPle 1: lAy Solid foundAtionS for 
mAnAgement And overSight

recommendation 1.1: companies should establish the 
functions reserved to the board and those delegated  
to senior executives and disclose those functions.

the key responsibilities and functions of the Board of the 
Company are as follows:

(a) considering the strategic goals of the consolidated 
entity as developed by management, approving 
appropriate goals, and monitoring the performance  
of the consolidated entity against them;

(b) appointment of the Chief executive officer, Group  
Chief Financial officer and the Company Secretary,  
and the determination of their terms and conditions  
of appointment (including remuneration);

(c) monitoring and evaluating the performance of senior 
management of the consolidated entity in achieving  
any strategies and budgets approved by the Board;

(d) reviewing on a regular and continuing basis:

 (i) executive and Board succession planning; and

 (ii) executive development activities;

(e) appointment of the Chairperson;

(f) determination of the membership and terms of 
reference of Board committees;

(g)  adoption of, and monitoring compliance with, corporate 
governance policies including the risk management 
policy and internal controls;

(h)  determining any matters in excess of discretions 
that it may have, from time to time, delegated to the 
senior management;

(i)  approving each of the following:

(i) the financial and capital expenditure budgets;

(ii) significant changes to the organisational structure 
and the appointment of such senior officers as the 
Board may determine;

(iii) the acquisition, establishment, disposal or 
cessation of any significant business of the 
consolidated entity;

(iv) payment of dividends in accordance with the 
Constitution;

(v) the appointment of the external auditor and 
remuneration payable in connection with the audit 
of the financial statements and non‑audit services;

(vi) the issue of any shares, options, equity instruments 
or other securities and any major debt obligations 
to be incurred by the consolidated entity;

(vii) annual financial statements and Directors’ reports;

(viii) periodic news releases of the consolidated entity’s 
financial results;

(ix) any changes to the discretions delegated from 
the Board; and

(x) the risk management policies of the 
consolidated entity;

(j) monitoring compliance with regulatory requirements 
and ethical standards;

(k) monitoring compliance with the aSX Listing rules 
continuous disclosure requirements;

(l) monitoring and enforcement of the provisions contained 
in Schedule 1 of the Constitution relating to compliance 
with the ownership and control provisions of the 
Broadcasting Services Act; and

(m) establishing and monitoring compliance with protocols 
in respect of Board processes, including in relation to 
issues of potential conflict.

It is the role of senior management within the Company and 
its subsidiaries to manage the day to day activities of those 
companies in accordance with the direction and delegations 
of the Board. It is the Board’s responsibility to oversee the 
activities of management in carrying out those delegated 
duties. the Board is also responsible for reviewing the 
strategies proposed by its management for the growth and 
operations of the consolidated entity.

In carrying out its governance role, the task of the Board 
has been to oversee the performance of the consolidated 
entity. the Board also seeks to ensure that the companies 
within the consolidated entity comply with all of their 
contractual, statutory and other legal obligations.

recommendation 1.2: companies should disclose 
the process of evaluating the performance of senior 
executives.

In the case of senior executives of the consolidated entity, 
the Board, in conjunction with the Chief executive officer, 
undertook an informal review during the reporting period, 
having regard to the duration of employment of the 
relevant executives, of their performance. the performance 
criteria for senior executives are set out on page 32 in the 
Directors’ report.

recommendation 1.3: companies should provide the 
information indicated in guide to reporting on Principle 1.

an informal performance review for each of the senior 
executives was undertaken during the reporting period. 
each of these performance evaluations was in accordance 
with the process referred to in the discussion about 
recommendation 1.2 immediately above.
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PrinciPle 2: Structure the boArd to 
Add vAlue

recommendation 2.1: A majority of the board should be 
independent directors.

Details of the Directors in office as at 31 august 2012 are set 
out on page 27.

the Company considers that each of its Directors meet the 
Board’s criteria for independence, other than:

•	 Lachlan murdoch (as the former Interim Chief 
executive officer);

•	 James warburton (as Chief executive officer of the 
consolidated entity); and

•	 Siobhan mckenna (having regard to her role at Illyria 
nominees television pty Limited and her nomination 
to the role as a Director of the Company by Cavalane 
Holdings pty Limited which together hold a relevant 
interest in approximately 18% in the Company’s shares).

In determining whether a Director is independent, the 
Board has regard to whether a Director is considered to be 
one who:

(a) has a material relationship as a supplier or customer or 
in any other contractual role with the consolidated entity 
(either directly, or as a partner, shareholder or executive 
officer of an organisation that has a material relationship 
with the consolidated entity);

(b) is, or has been within the previous three years, employed 
by the consolidated entity;

(c) is, or has been within the previous three years, a 
principal of a material professional adviser, the 
auditor, or a material consultant to the consolidated 
entity or an employee materially associated with the 
service provided;

(d) is a substantial shareholder of the Company or an 
officer of, or otherwise associated with, a substantial 
shareholder of the Company;

(e) has served on the Board of the Company for a period 
which could, or could reasonably be perceived to, 
materially interfere with the Director’s ability to act  
in the best interests of the consolidated entity; and

(f) is free from any interest and any business or other 
relationship that could, or could be perceived to, 
materially interfere with the Director’s ability to act  
in the best interests of the consolidated entity.

the Board has previously determined that a material 
relationship is to be determined on the basis of fees 
paid or moneys received or paid to either a Director or a 
Director‑related entity, which may impact the adjusted 
eBItDa of the consolidated entity in the previous financial 
year by more than 5%.

these criteria continue to apply in determining the 
independence of Directors of the Company.

the Board considers that the independent Directors, who 
have served for a number of years, bring considerable 
skill, experience and expertise to the Company and they 
continue to review and challenge the performance of 
management and exercise independent judgement. 
accordingly, the Board considers the length of service does 
not materially interfere with the ability of the respective 
Directors to act in the best interests of the Company.

while a number of the Directors’ related parties had 
dealings with the consolidated entity, such dealings were 
not material (refer the related party disclosures in the notes 
to the financial statements of the consolidated entity).

the Board has assessed the position of Gina rinehart and 
considers that mrs rinehart is independent. mrs rinehart 
is a substantial holder, as that expression is defined for the 
purposes of the Corporations act, although the holding 
is not so substantial as to either amount to a controlling 
interest or one that enables the exercise of significant 
influence. In addition, recognising the existence of other 
comparative substantial holdings in the Company, the 
Board can see no interest of mrs rinehart which could 
interfere with the independent exercise of her judgement 
in the best interests of the Company.

the Board considers that whilst mr mallam was nominated 
as a Director by entities controlled by mr Bruce Gordon, 
who is himself a substantial shareholder, mr mallam 
is also an independent Director. the Board has made 
this assessment having regard to factors including the 
lack of financial dependence of mr mallam on fees and 
remuneration paid by the Company or any advisory 
fees (other than the provision of legal services on usual 
commercial terms) paid to mr mallam’s firm by entities 
controlled by mr Gordon. the Board recognises that there 
is the potential for conflict associated with the negotiation 
of program supply agreements and other arrangements 
between the Group and mr Gordon’s regional television 
broadcasters. to the extent that these arrangements arise 
for consideration by the Board, the principles relating 
generally to conflicts of interest involving Directors – see 
below – will apply. In such circumstances, mr mallam will, to 
the extent required, declare his position and not participate 
in the decision‑making process relating to the conflict 
issue. However as the arrangements are considered less 
frequently than on an annual basis, the Board considers this 
should not affect mr mallam’s ongoing independent status.

the Board has also had regard to the fact that neither 
mrs rinehart nor mr mallam is a member of management, 
each is not financially reliant on any fees or other 
remuneration paid by the Company and that they are not 
in a position, by virtue of their shareholding interest or 
the shareholding interest of their nominator, to be able to 
control the Company having regard to the shareholding 
interests held by other shareholders in the Company.F
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the Constitution of the Company provides that generally 
one third of the Directors (other than a managing 
Director, alternate Directors and any Director who has 
been appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition 
to the Board since the last annual general meeting) are 
required to retire and seek re‑election each year and 
no Director can hold office for more than three years 
without seeking re‑election.

the Directors may appoint persons to fill casual vacancies 
or as additions to the Board. any person filling a casual 
vacancy or appointed as an additional Director holds office 
until the next annual general meeting, where they must 
retire but are eligible for re‑election. 

nominations to fill a casual vacancy are reviewed by the 
Board Composition and renewal Committee of the Board, 
with recommendations submitted to the Board of Directors 
for approval.

a person is only eligible to be elected as a Director (other 
than if his or her re‑election arises from retirement by 
rotation) where both the nomination of the person by a 
member and a consent to nomination signed by the person, 
are received by the Company at least 35 business days 
before the relevant general meeting.

the Board has previously established a Board protocol 
Committee and adopted a Conflict protocol. as at 
31 august 2012, this Committee was comprised of:

•	 Brian Long (Chair)

•	 Jack Cowin

•	 David Gordon

the Conflict protocol recognizes that a Director may 
from time to time have a conflict between his duties as a 
Director and his duties as a director or his interests in a 
Director‑related entity. the protocol recognizes that all 
Directors have a right of access to information about the 
Company to ensure proper performance of their duties, but 
a Director who has a material personal interest in a matter 
to be considered by the Board must not be present during 
discussions or vote on that matter.

In the event that the Board protocol Committee considers 
that the receipt of particular information by a Director 
would be detrimental to the Company, the Committee is 
required to notify and discuss the issue with the relevant 
Director.

where the law precludes a Director from receiving 
particular information, the Director will not be entitled to 
receive the information but will be notified of the nature  
of the information.

In circumstances where there is a conflict of interest  
which does not otherwise amount to a material personal 
interest, the Director will be provided with a description  
of the nature of the sensitive information sufficient to allow 
them to form a view as to whether or not that sensitive 
information is required for the proper performance of their 
fiduciary duties.

recommendation 2.2: the chair should be an 
independent director.

recommendation 2.3: the roles of chair and chief 
executive officer should not be exercised by the 
same individual.

Lachlan murdoch was appointed as Chair of the Company’s 
Board on 10 February 2012 and James warburton was 
appointed as the Company’s new Chief executive officer 
with effect from 1 January 2012. mr warburton was also 
appointed as managing Director of the Company on 
10 February 2012.

the Board acknowledges aSX recommendation 2.2 that 
the chair of the board should be an independent director. 
the Board considers that mr murdoch, while not an 
independent director, brings with him a valuable history 
of leadership and knowledge of the Company’s business 
through his past corporate roles in the industry and his 
past role as Interim Ceo of the Company, as well as an 
independence of mind, which makes him a strong and 
appropriate Chair of the Board.

Simultaneously with the appointment of mr murdoch as 
Chair, the Board also appointed Brian Long as Deputy 
Chair and Lead Independent Director to represent 
the views of the independent directors with the Chair, 
Ceo and shareholders wherever possible.

recommendation 2.4: the board should establish a 
nomination committee. 

the Board maintains a Board performance and renewal 
Committee. as at 31 august 2012, this Committee was 
comprised of:

•	 Brian Long (Chair)

•	 Lachlan murdoch

•	 Jack Cowin

•	 Gina rinehart

a charter has been established which charges the Board 
performance and renewal Committee with responsibility 
for considering issues associated with Board composition 
and succession planning, including nomination of 
independent non‑executive Directors to the Board. a copy 
of the Charter is available in the Corporate Governance 
section of the Company’s website. this Committee is in 
the process of formulating procedures and policies for the 
selection and appointment of new independent Directors 
and, once adopted, these procedures will also be made 
available on the Company’s website.

Details of attendances at meetings of the Board 
performance and renewal Committee are set out 
at page 31.F
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recommendation 2.5: companies should disclose the 
process for evaluating the performance of the board, 
its committees and individual directors.

the Board performance and renewal Committee has 
previously been delegated responsibility to review 
the performance of the Board, its Committees and 
individual Directors. 

the Board also undertakes an informal performance 
review on an ad hoc basis of the Board, its Committees and 
individual Directors through the use of internal surveys, 
regular Board discussions and interactions.

agendas are set by the Board’s Chairman to ensure 
adequate coverage of financial, strategic and major risk 
areas throughout the financial year.

In order to assist the Board in the performance of its duties, 
reports are prepared by each of the relevant General 
managers and submitted to Directors in advance of each 
regular Board meeting.

additionally, key financial information reports are prepared 
and distributed to each Director at the end of each calendar 
month, with Directors having the opportunity to receive 
weekly pacing reports that show latest revenue and ratings 
performances.

members of the Board and Board Committees are 
entitled, subject to the approval of the Chairman, to retain 
independent professional advisers at the Company’s 
expense from time to time. a copy of any advice obtained 
must be made available to, and for the benefit of, all Board 
members, unless the Chairman otherwise agrees.

Directors have access to the Company Secretary to assist 
in the provision of any information reasonably sought by 
Directors and the Company Secretary is accountable to  
the Board through the Chairman on all governance issues.

Under the Constitution, the Company Secretary is required 
to be appointed and removed by the Board.

recommendation 2.6: companies should provide the 
information indicated in the guide to reporting on 
Principle 2.

Information about the skills, experience and expertise of 
the Directors is contained at pages 29 to 31 of the Directors 
report. this information also notes the period of office held 
by each Director in office at the date of the annual report.

each Director brings different skills and professional services 
expertise to the Board. the Board seeks to achieve a mix 
of skills and diversity that includes international, corporate 
management and operational experience, as well as a deep 
understanding of the television and advertising industries 
in which the Company operates and the regulatory, 
environmental and community challenges it faces.

During the year the Board undertook an informal 
performance review of the Board, its Committees and 
individual Directors in accordance with the process 
described above, including for the purposes of Board 
renewal considerations.

the Board renewal process involves the initial step of 
identifying skills and expertise of existing Board members 
which is followed by the step of identifying candidates 
who are able to offer the Company a diversity of skills 
and expertise to complement those of the existing Board 
members. this process resulted in the appointment of 
messrs Long, Hawkins, Gordon, mallam and ms Holgate in 
2010. on that occasion, the Board looked specifically for 
candidates with expertise in marketing, communications 
and media, as well as in the finance and legal fields.

During the year, ms mckenna was appointed to the Board 
following consideration of her significant media and 
business consultancy experience and her involvement 
during 2011 with mr murdoch in restructuring the 
Company’s operations.

the Board performance and renewal Committee is in the 
process of formulating procedures and policies for the 
selection and appointment of new Directors and, once 
adopted, these procedures will be made available on the 
company’s website.

a copy of the charter for the Board performance and 
renewal Committee appears on the Company’s website.

PrinciPle 3: Promote ethicAl And 
reSPonSible deciSion mAking

recommendation 3.1: companies should establish a code 
of conduct and disclose the code or a summary of the 
code as to:

•	 the practices necessary to maintain confidence in the 
company’s integrity;

•	 the practices necessary to take into account the legal 
obligations and the reasonable expectations of their 
shareholders; and

•	 the responsibility and accountability of individuals 
for reporting and investigating reports of unethical 
practices.

the consolidated entity has adopted a Code of Conduct 
that governs conflicts of interest, corporate opportunities, 
confidentiality, unethical behaviour and compliance with 
laws and regulations.

a copy of this Code appears on the Company’s website.

the Group Chief Financial officer has also undertaken to 
the audit Committee that he will comply with the Group  
of 100 CFo Code of Conduct.

In addition, each executive is bound by a written 
employment agreement that also contains provisions 
dealing with confidentiality, conflicts of interest, 
compliance with laws and other policies adopted by the 
consolidated entity.

recommendation 3.2: companies should establish a 
policy concerning diversity and disclose the policy or 
a summary of that policy. the policy should include 
requirements for the board to establish measurable 
objectives for achieving gender diversity and for the 
board to assess annually both the objectives and progress 
in achieving them.
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recommendation 3.3: companies should disclose in each 
annual report the measurable objectives for achieving 
gender diversity.

the Company is an equal opportunity employer and 
recognizes the need to develop an appropriate formal 
policy concerning gender diversity and the measures to 
achieve such diversity.

the remuneration Committee presently has the 
development of such a formal policy under review.

once this policy is developed and approved by this 
Committee, it will be placed on the Company’s corporate 
website www.tencorporate.com.au

recommendation 3.4: companies should disclose in each 
annual report the proportion of woman employees in the 
whole organisation, women in senior executive positions 
and women on the board.

as at 31 august 2012, the proportion of women who 
occupied each of the following role categories within the 
consolidated entity, was:

•	 total employees (1143)  44%

•	 Senior executive roles (65) 38%

•	 Directors (11)   27%

employees are considered to occupy senior executive 
roles within the Company where they form part of the 
formal management groups of either of ten or eye Corp. 
mr warburton, as an executive Director, is included in 
the number of Directors but has been excluded from the 
number of senior executives. Senior executives are included 
in the total employee numbers referred above.

PrinciPle 4: SAfeguArd integrity in 
finAnciAl rePorting

recommendation 4.1: the board should establish 
an audit committee.

recommendation 4.2: the audit committee should 
be structured so that it:

•	 consists only of non‑executive directors

•	 consists of a majority of independent directors

•	 is chaired by an independent chair, who is not chair 
of the board

•	 has at least 3 members.

the Board of the Company has previously established 
an audit Committee. the members of this Committee 
as at 31 august 2012 comprised solely independent 
non‑executive Directors, being:

•	 paul Gleeson (Chair)

•	 Brian Long

•	 Dean Hawkins

•	 paul mallam

the Chairman of the Committee is a member of the Institute 
of Chartered accountants and has significant experience in 
dealing with financial and accounting matters.

Further details of the qualifications of the members of 
this Committee may be found in their Director profiles on 
pages 29 to 31. Details of attendances at meetings of the 
audit Committee are set out at page 31.

recommendation 4.3: the audit committee should have 
a formal charter.

the audit Committee of the Company has a formal charter. 
the charter indicates that responsibilities of the audit 
Committee include:

•	 reporting to the Board on their activities;

•	 reviewing the effectiveness of management systems,  
in areas of greatest financial risk;

•	 recommending to the Board on the appointment of the 
external auditor and on the auditor’s remuneration;

•	 maintaining a policy for the provision of audit and 
non‑audit services by the external auditor;

•	 reviewing and assessing the auditor’s report and the 
actions proposed by management in response;

•	 being satisfied that the scope of the audit is adequate 
especially in relation to areas where the audit 
Committee believes special attention is necessary;

•	 reviewing the accounting policies and practices of the 
consolidated entity;

•	 monitoring compliance with the Company’s Statement 
of Corporate Governance;

•	 reviewing related party transactions that may involve 
Directors, management and employees giving rise to 
actual or potential conflicts of interest and providing 
appropriate advice as to any necessary disclosures to 
the Board; and

•	 reviewing the half yearly and annual financial statements.

the charter is reviewed annually by the audit Committee 
to determine if any changes are required. During the last 
financial year, the audit Committee reviewed the charter 
but made no substantive changes to its terms.

the charter for the audit Committee may be accessed on 
the Company’s website.

In accordance with the Corporations act, the lead and 
review audit partner is required to rotate at least every 
five years.

the Committee regularly meets with the external auditor 
in the absence of management so as to discuss potential 
issues associated with management controls, the 
preparation and audit of consolidated entity’s financial 
reports and the performance of management in relation 
to such issues.

the partner from pricewaterhouseCoopers responsible 
for the audit of the financial statements of the Company 
attends the annual general meeting of the Company 
to answer any questions that shareholders may wish 
to raise in relation to the conduct of the audit of the 
financial statements.

Shareholders may submit written questions to the auditor 
in relation to the content of the auditor’s report and the 
conduct of the audit of the annual financial statements, 
no later than the 5th business day before the annual 
general meeting.
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PrinciPle 5: mAke timely And bAlAnced 
diScloSure

recommendation 5.1: companies should establish written 
policies designed to ensure compliance with ASX listing 
rule disclosure requirements and to ensure accountability 
at a senior executive level for that compliance and 
disclose those policies or a summary of those policies.

the Company, as a listed company, is required to comply 
with the Listing rules of the aSX.

the Board of the Company has established a policy to 
ensure that if any Director, executive officer or employee 
of the Company becomes aware of any potentially 
materially price sensitive information, that person must 
inform the Chief executive officer, Group Chief Financial 
officer and / or the Company Secretary, who are then 
responsible, in conjunction with the Chairperson, for 
ensuring that the Company complies with its continuous 
disclosure obligations.

a copy of this policy also appears on the 
Company’s website.

In addition, the Company has a policy for Dealing in 
Securities, a copy of which is also available in the Corporate 
Governance section of the Company’s website. this policy 
provides that Directors, executive officers and employees 
of the consolidated entity must not deal in the Company’s 
securities where:

•	 they are in possession of price sensitive or “inside” 
information; or

•	 in circumstances where the Company is in possession of 
price sensitive or “inside” information and has notified the 
persons to whom the policy applies that they must not 
deal in the Company’s securities, either for a specified 
period or until the Company gives further notice.

Directors are to inform the Chairman when they wish to 
trade securities in the Company. Directors and senior 
executives are prohibited from dealing in securities in 
the Company during any period commencing at the 
conclusion of each six monthly financial period and 
concluding on the day following the release of its relevant 
half yearly announcement to the aSX. this policy also 
reflects the perception that, during these periods, 
Directors and senior executives may be in possession 
of significant financial information associated with the 
preparation of the consolidated entity’s periodic financial 
disclosures to the market.

In exceptional circumstances (such as financial hardship 
or a compulsory court order), the Board may waive the 
prohibition on dealing in the Company’s securities during 
a blackout period.

the policy also prohibits the buying and selling of the 
Company’s securities within a three month period, entering 
into short term dealings (eg forward contracts) and 
the entry into transactions that limit the economic risk 
associated with holding the Company’s securities.

PrinciPle 6: reSPect the rightS  
of ShAreholderS

recommendation 6.1: companies should design 
a communications policy for promoting effective 
communication with shareholders and encouraging their 
participation at general meetings and disclose their policy 
or a summary of that policy.

the Company provides regular financial releases to 
the aSX in respect of its half‑year (ending February) 
and full‑year (ending august) financial results. these 
disclosures are generally made during march / april and 
october of each year.

the financial results are generally posted to the Company’s 
website within 24 hours of disclosure to the aSX. Similarly, 
any other major disclosures to the aSX outside of the 
financial results are also posted to the Company’s website. 
those shareholders who wish to be advised of any 
announcements, may notify the Company’s registry, who 
will arrange for an email to be sent to the shareholder 
advising that an announcement has been posted on 
the Company’s website on each occasion that a major 
disclosure is made by the Company to the aSX.

the Company provides webcast facilities to allow live and 
delayed access to presentations made to analysts and 
media representatives in respect of half yearly and full year 
financial results and major media announcements.

Shareholders may also communicate with the Company 
by email.

the Company produces its annual review for dispatch 
to shareholders generally by early november each year. 
Shareholders are given the opportunity to “opt‑in” to 
receive the annual review. In the event that a shareholder 
does not elect to opt‑in to receive an annual review, 
they may alternatively elect to receive an email from the 
Company’s share registry advising that the annual review 
and financial reports have been posted to the Company’s 
website or will be notified at the same time as the notice  
of annual general meeting is sent to shareholders.

the notice of annual general meeting for the Company 
is forwarded, together with a voting form allowing 
shareholders unable to attend the annual general meeting 
to be able to vote on the matters contained in the notice 
of meeting. Shareholders may also elect to complete their 
voting form on‑line via the website for the Company’s share 
registry. Shareholders are encouraged to participate in the 
annual general meeting by asking questions and voting on 
the proposed resolutions.
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PrinciPle 7: recogniSe And mAnAge riSk

recommendation 7.1: companies should establish policies 
for the oversight and management of material business 
risks and disclose a summary of those policies.

recommendation 7.2: the board should require 
management to design and implement the risk 
management and internal control system to manage 
the company’s material business risks and report to it 
on whether those risks are being managed effectively. 
the board should disclose that management has 
reported to it as to the effectiveness of the company’s 
management of its material business risks.

a copy of the consolidated entity’s risk management policy 
is available in the Corporate Governance section of the 
Company’s website.

the policy identifies that:

•	 the Board is responsible for overseeing the 
establishment and implementation by the consolidated 
entity’s management of risk management systems and 
reviewing the effectiveness of these systems;

•	 the audit Committee of the Company has been 
delegated the responsibility for receiving submissions 
from the consolidated entity’s management regarding 
the management of business risks, including the 
formulation and review of the business risks policy and 
other risk management policies; and

•	 management of the consolidated entity is responsible 
for the design and implementation of risk management 
and internal control systems to manage the Company’s 
material business risks and to report to the Board 
on the effectiveness of those systems. this risk 
management and internal control system operates in 
accordance with the business risks policy through a 
formal organisation‑wide risk management framework 
and other formal and informal risk specific frameworks 
and approaches.

each of the consolidated entity’s operational areas is 
required to identify the material risks which they consider 
may arise and to determine the probability of any such 
occurrence and its potential financial impact. measures are 
then developed to control such risks in conjunction with 
other risk measures including where appropriate relevant 
insurance cover.

the Company’s risk management policy is designed 
to meet the criteria set down in ISo 31000. this policy 
is supported by specific formal and informal analytical 
techniques to identify and evaluate risk, and integration 
strategies to improve / optimise the consolidated entity’s 
risk profile.

risks and the effectiveness of their management are 
reviewed and reported regularly to the consolidated entity’s 
senior executive, the audit Committee and the Board 
through various mechanisms depending upon the nature 
of this risk.

the Board is responsible for and has delegated to the audit 
Committee the review of the Group’s work, health and 
safety practices and procedures during the year, in light 
of the introduction of the new work, Health and Safety 
legislation in various States.

In reviewing the risk management and internal control 
systems of the consolidated entity, the Chief executive 
officer and the Group Chief Financial officer have also 
confirmed in writing that the consolidated entity’s risk 
management and internal control systems are operating 
effectively in relation to material business risks for the 
period and have reported to the Board that the Company  
is effectively managing its material business risks.

recommendation 7.3: the board should disclose whether 
it has received assurance from the chief executive 
officer (or equivalent) and the chief financial officer (or 
equivalent) that the declaration provided in accordance 
with section 295A of the corporations Act is founded on 
a sound system of risk management and internal control 
and that the system is operating effectively in all material 
respects in relation to financial reporting risks. 

In accordance with the Corporations act, the Directors may 
now only give their declaration in relation to the annual 
financial statements if the Chief executive officer and the 
Group Chief Financial officer have made the declarations 
required pursuant to section 295a of the Corporations act 
and otherwise as contained in their representation letters.

In addition, the Chief executive officer and the Group Chief 
Financial officer provide representation letters to the Board 
at the time of consideration of the half yearly and annual 
financial statements. these representation letters provide 
a sign‑off in relation to various issues associated with the 
keeping of financial records generally, the preparation of 
the financial statements and the disclosures made and a 
specific requirement that the financial statements present 
a true and fair view.

the Board has received assurance from the Chief executive 
officer and the Group Chief Financial officer that the 
declaration provided in accordance with section 295a of 
the Corporations act is founded on a sound system of risk 
management and internal controls and that the systems are 
operating effectively in all material respects in relation to 
financial reporting risks.

PrinciPle 8: remunerAte fAirly And 
reSPonSibly

recommendation 8.1: the board should establish a 
remuneration committee.

recommendation 8.2: the remuneration committee 
should be structured so that it:

•	 consists of a majority on independent directors

•	 is chaired by an independent director

•	 has at least three members
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the Board has a remuneration Committee, which is 
comprised of a majority of independent, non‑executive 
Directors. as at 31 august 2012, this Committee comprised:

•	 Jack Cowin (Chair)

•	 Brian Long

•	 David Gordon

•	 Lachlan murdoch

•	 Christine Holgate

Details of attendances at meetings of the remuneration 
Committee are set out at page 31.

the remuneration Committee has a formal charter, a copy 
of which is available in the Corporate Governance section 
of the Company’s website. the role of the remuneration 
Committee is to:

•	 review the remuneration policy for the 
consolidated entity;

•	 approve the remuneration (including incentives) of the 
Chief executive officer and the executives reporting 
to the Chief executive officer;

•	 review the performance and financial incentives of the 
Chief executive officer on an annual basis;

•	 review proposals for incentive plans prior to submission 
to the Board of Directors for approval;

•	 review human resources planning with particular 
emphasis on succession planning for senior group 
executive positions; and

•	 develop a formal gender diversity policy and determine 
appropriate measurable objectives.

recommendation 8.3: companies should clearly 
distinguish the structure of non‑executive directors’ 
remuneration from that of executive directors and 
senior executives.

Disclosure of the remuneration for each Director and each 
of the executives comprising key management personnel 
is set out on pages 32 to 43.

non‑executive Directors do not participate in any share 
or option plans offered by the Company.

additionally, there are no retirement benefit plans 
available to non‑executive Directors of the Company. 
the consolidated entity does make contributions to 
approved superannuation funds on behalf of each eligible 
australian resident non‑executive Director in accordance 
with the superannuation guarantee legislation.

Website – Further information in relation to the 
consolidated entity is available on our websites 
at www.tencorporate.com.au.
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the Directors’ report, Concise Financial report and 
auditor’s Statement contained within this document 
represents a Concise report. the Concise Financial report 
contained within this document has been derived from 
the Full Financial report of ten network Holdings Limited 
for the financial year ended 31 august 2012 and cannot 
be expected to provide as full an understanding of the 
financial performance, financial position and financing and 
investing activities of the consolidated entity as the Full 
Financial report.

the Directors of ten network Holdings Limited present 
their report on the consolidated entity, consisting of 
ten network Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its 
controlled entities, for the year ended 31 august 2012.

directorS
the Directors that have been in office during the year 
and since year end are:

mr Lk murdoch a (non‑executive Chairman)

mr BJ Long B (Deputy Chairman) (alternate DL Gordon F)

mr JJ Cowin (alternate mr pv Gleeson)

mr pv Gleeson (alternate mr JJ Cowin)

ms Cw Holgate (alternate mr DL Gordon)

mr DL Gordon

mr DD Hawkins (alternate mr DL Gordon)

mr pr mallam

ms GH rinehart (alternates Hon. C edwardes e, mr JJ Cowin)

mr Jr warburton C

ms SL mckenna D

a: appointed as non‑executive Chairman effective 10 February 2012.

B: appointed as Deputy Chairman effective 10 February 2012.

C: appointed as Director effective 10 February 2012.

D: appointed as Director effective 26 June 2012.

e: resigned as alternate Director effective 10 September 2012.

F: appointed as alternate Director effective 21 June 2012.

PrinciPAl ActivitieS
the principal activity of the Company is the investment 
in the ten Group pty Limited (“ten Group”) and 
controlled entities, whose principal activities are the 
operation of multi‑channel commercial television licences 
in Sydney, melbourne, Brisbane, adelaide and perth, 
and out‑of‑home advertising.

reSultS
the consolidated profit after income tax for the year ended 
31 august comprises:

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

profit before income tax (i) 16,322 21,212

Income tax  
(expense) (ii) (10,148) (7,123)

profit from continuing 
operations 6,174 14,089

(Loss)/profit from 
discontinued operations (iii) (10,374) 3,562

(loss)/Profit for the year (4,200) 17,651

profit attributable to 
non‑controlling interests 8,671 3,475

(loss)/Profit attributable to 
members of the company (12,871) 14,176

(i) Includes $11.4m of non‑recurring costs in 2012 (2011: $85.4m).

(ii) Includes $1.1m of non‑recurring tax revenue in 2012 (2011: $24.9m).

(iii) Includes impairment loss of $12.3m to writedown the eye Corp  
 disposal group to estimated fair value less costs to sell.

dividendS
the Company paid a final fully franked dividend of 
5.25 cents per share on 30 november 2011 in respect to 
the 2011 profits.

revieW of oPerAtionS
the 2012 year has been another year of significant change 
for the Company including the commencement of a new 
Chief executive officer in January. the operating results 
for the year reflect the difficult trading conditions in the 
overall advertising market, the one off impact of the 
olympic Games as well as a decline in ratings and revenue 
share for the network. the Company does not expect the 
overall trading conditions to improve in the near term, 
however, it continues to implement initiatives from the 
operating and Strategic review carried out in 2012 as well 
as undertaking additional initiatives in order to position the 
group for the future.

SignificAnt chAngeS in the StAte 
of AffAirS
During the year, the Company announced it had entered 
into a Sale purchase agreement to sell eye Corp pty Limited 
to outdoor media operations pty Limited (“omo”), the 
owner of ooh!media pty Limited. on 17 october 2012, 
the Company announced that it received formal notice 
from omo purporting to terminate this Sale purchase 
agreement. while the Company has reserved its legal 
position regarding the purported termination, the Company 
and omo remain in discussions with the aim of agreeing 
amended sale terms. 
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on 6 June 2012, the Company announced an underwritten 
3‑for‑8 accelerated renounceable offer of new shares. 
this offer comprised an institutional and retail component. 
the total proceeds of approximately $200 million were 
used to pay down debt, with the balance held as cash at 
bank, strengthening the company’s balance sheet.

eventS SubSequent to bAlAnce dAte
on 17 october 2012, the Company announced that it 
received formal notice from omo purporting to terminate 
the Share purchase agreement relating to the sale of eye 
Corp pty Limited.  

while the Company has reserved its legal position regarding 
the purported termination, the Company and omo remain 
in discussions with the aim of agreeing amended sale terms.  

the net assets of the disposal group are recorded at 
estimated fair value less costs to sell.

other than the above, no matters or circumstances have 
arisen since balance date that have significantly affected  
or may significantly affect:

•	 the operations in financial years subsequent to 
31 august 2012 of the consolidated entity; or

•	 the results of those operations; or the state of affairs 
in financial years subsequent to 31 august 2012 of the 
consolidated entity.

likely develoPmentS
Information as to likely developments in the operations 
of the consolidated entity and the expected results of 
those operations in subsequent financial years has not 
been included in this report because, in the opinion of 
the Directors, it would prejudice the interests of the 
consolidated entity.

informAtion on directorS

PArticulArS of directorS’ 
intereStS in ShAreS  

of the comPAny

director reSPonSibilitieS ordinAry ShAreS

non‑executive chairman 

Lk murdoch a non‑executive Chairman of Board of Directors, member 
of remuneration Committee, and Board performance and 
renewal Committee

128,455,877

deputy chairman 

BJ Long B Deputy Chairman of Board of Directors, Chair of Board 
performance and renewal Committee, member of 
remuneration Committee and audit /  risk /  treasury 
Committee

96,250

directors

JJ Cowin Chair of remuneration Committee,

member of Board performance and renewal Committee 

1,375,000

pv Gleeson C Chair of audit /  risk /  treasury Committee 23,713,770

Cw Holgate D member of remuneration Committee 38,844

DL Gordon member of remuneration Committee 137,500

DD Hawkins member of audit /  risk /  treasury Committee 75,000

pr mallam member of audit / risk / treasury Committee 6,875

GH rinehart member of Board performance and renewal Committee 143,720,049

Jr warburton –

SL mckenna –

a:  mr murdoch appointed as non‑executive Chairman effective 10 February 2012; appointed member of Board performance and renewal Committee 
effective 22 February 2012.

B:  mr Long appointed as Deputy Chairman effective 10 February 2012; appointed member of audit / risk / treasury Committee effective 22 February 2012.

C:  mr Gleeson resigned as member of remuneration Committee effective 22 February 2012.

D:   ms Holgate appointed member of remuneration Committee effective 22 February 2012; resigned as member of Board performance and renewal 
Committee effective 22 February 2012.
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informAtion on directorS Continued

qualifications and experience of directors

the qualifications and experience of each Director are 
detailed below.

lachlan k murdoch

(age 41)

Director of the Company since 13 December 2010 and 
appointed Chairman of the Company on 10 February 2012.

mr murdoch is also an ex officio member of the 
audit / risk / treasury Committee of the Company and a 
member of each of the Board performance and renewal 
Committee and also the remuneration Committee.

Other Current Australian Listed Company Directorships: 

news Corporation (appointed 29 october 1996)

Former Australian Listed Company Directorships  
in Last 3 Years: 

prime media Group Limited (between 7 october – 
9 november 2010)

brian J long

(age 66)

Director of the Company since 1 July 2010. 

mr Long held the position of Chairman of the Company 
from 10 December 2010 to 9 February 2012.

on 10 February 2012, mr Long was appointed Deputy 
Chairman and Lead Independent Director.

mr Long is Chairman of the Board performance and 
renewal Committee of the Company and a member of 
each of the audit / risk / treasury Committee and the 
remuneration Committee.

mr Long previously chaired the Global Governance and 
advisory Council of ernst & Young and also chaired the 
Council for the firm’s oceania area. He was a partner 
of ernst & Young for almost 30 years and was one of 
the firm’s most experienced audit partners. He retired 
from ernst & Young on 30 June 2010. mr Long is also a 
member of Council and Chairman of the audit Committee 
of the national Library of australia. He is Chairman of 
the audit Committee of the University of new South 
wales and is also a member of the University’s Council. 
mr Long is a non‑executive Director of Cantarella Bros. 
pty Ltd. He is Chairman of the charitable organisation, 
United way australia. mr Long is a Fellow of the Institute 
of Chartered accountants in australia and has been 
a member since 1972.

Other Current Australian Listed Company Directorships: 

Commonwealth Bank of australia 
(appointed 1 September 2010)

Former Australian Listed Company Directorships  
in Last 3 Years: 

none

Jack J cowin

Ba (age 70)

Director of the Company since april 1998.

mr Cowin is Chairman of the remuneration Committee 
and a member of the Board performance and renewal 
Committee of the Company.

He is the founder and Chairman of Competitive Foods 
australia Limited and is on the board of directors of Sydney 
olympic park authority as well as BridgeClimb.

Other Current Australian Listed Company Directorships: 

Chandler macleod Group (appointed 1 march 2011), and 
Fairfax media Group (appointed 19 July 2012).

Former Australian Listed Company Directorships  
in Last 3 Years: 

none

Paul v gleeson

Bec, aCa (age 59)

Director of the Company since February 1998. He is a 
member of the Institute of Chartered accountants in 
australia.

mr Gleeson is Chairman of the audit / risk / treasury 
Committee of the Company.

Other Current Australian Listed Company Directorships: 

none

Former Australian Listed Company Directorships  
in Last 3 Years: 

none

christine W holgate

(age 48)

Director of the Company since 1 april 2010. 

ms Holgate is a member of the remuneration Committee 
of the Company.

ms Holgate has had extensive international experience at 
senior executive and board levels and is presently managing 
Director and Chief executive officer at Blackmores 
Limited. ms Holgate was previously managing Director, 
Business Sales at telstra and Group Director of Strategy 
and marketing at energis, a european alternative network 
operator. ms Holgate has also served as managing Director, 
Head of marketing and Communications for europe, middle 
east and africa at Jp morgan, a leading global investment 
bank and as Director of Investor relations at Cable & 
wireless plc, a FtSe global telecommunications company.

Other Current Australian Listed Company Directorships: 

Blackmores Limited (appointed november 2008)

Former Australian Listed Company Directorships  
in Last 3 Years: 

none
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informAtion on directorS Continued
david l gordon

BCom LLB (age 51)

Director of the Company since 1 april 2010.

mr Gordon is also a member of the remuneration 
Committee of the Company.

mr Gordon is a former m&a partner at the Sydney law 
firm, Freehills, and subsequently at former corporate 
advisory firm, wentworth associates pty Ltd, prior to 
founding Lexicon partners pty Ltd, an independent 
corporate advisory and investment firm based in Sydney 
and with a specialisation in technology, media and 
telecommunications. mr Gordon has advised a number of 
australia’s major media businesses over the last 20 years. 
He is also a director of rCG Corporation Limited. He holds 
a Bachelor of Commerce and Bachelor of Laws degrees 
from the University of new South wales.

Other Current Australian Listed Company Directorships: 

rCG Corporation Limited (appointed 19 october 2006)

Former Australian Listed Company Directorships  
in Last 3 Years: 

none

dean d hawkins

(age 51)

Director of the Company since 1 april 2010. 

mr Hawkins is also a member of the audit / risk / treasury 
Committee of the Company.

mr Hawkins has led international businesses at the 
forefront of the broadband, digital media, television 
and sports industries in australia and overseas for the 
past 16 years. mr Hawkins is Chairman, advisory Board 
at Skins Global Holdings aG, the manufacturer of Skins 
sports compression garments, a non‑executive director of 
Leighton Contractors pty Limited, and a strategic advisor to 
the media industry. He was previously an executive director 
of video networks Limited (vnL), Uk’s first Iptv platform, 
and an executive director of Chello media, a european 
broadband ISp and digital media company. He is a member 
of the British academy of Film and television arts, having 
received BaFta and emmy awards for tv channels 
created by his teams at vnL, was a director of Sydney 
Dance Company until august 2012 and was a founding 
board member of the Salvation army oasis Centre, a centre 
for homeless youths and suicide prevention services in 
Sydney. He is a chartered accountant, was previously an 
investment banker in australia and europe and holds a 
Bachelor of Commerce degree.

Other Current Australian Listed Company Directorships: 

none

Former Australian Listed Company Directorships  
in Last 3 Years: 

none

Paul r mallam

(age 55)

Director of the Company since 13 December 2010. 

mr mallam is also a member of the audit / risk / treasury 
Committee of the Company.

mr mallam has been one of australia’s leading 
telecom / media / technology practitioners for 20 years. He 
was formerly a partner of Blake Dawson Lawyers before 
establishing his own boutique firm, mallam Lawyers, in 2009.

He has advised on every major legal and commercial 
development in australia’s tmt sector over the past 
two decades.

Other Current Australian Listed Company Directorships: 

none

Former Australian Listed Company Directorships  
in Last 3 Years: 

none

georgina h rinehart

(age 58)

Director of the Company since 13 December 2010. 

mrs rinehart is also a member of the Board performance 
and renewal Committee of the Company.

mrs rinehart is executive Chairman of the Hancock 
prospecting pty Ltd Group of companies and Chairman of the 
roy Hill Holdings pty Ltd Group. She is also currently a director 
of Hope Downs marketing Company pty Ltd, Hancock Coal 
pty Ltd and Hancock alpha west pty Ltd. these companies 
are primarily involved in the exploration and mining of natural 
resources. She has wide‑ranging philanthropic interests which 
includes being a non‑executive director of South east asia 
Investigations into Social and Humanitarian activities (SISHa) 
and a long‑term involvement with the Hancock Family medical 
Foundation (Inc.), a medical foundation which supports the 
fight against cancer and heart conditions.

Other Current Australian Listed Company Directorships: 

none

Former Australian Listed Company Directorships  
in Last 3 Years: 

none

James r Warburton

(age 42)

James warburton joined ten network Holdings Limited as 
Chief executive officer on 1 January 2012.

He took on the additional role of managing Director and joined 
the Company’s Board of Directors on 10 February 2012.

Before his appointment to the Company, mr warburton 
was Chief Sales and Digital officer at Seven media Group, 
covering the Seven network, pacific magazines and Yahoo!7.

Other Current Australian Listed Company Directorships: 

none

Former Australian Listed Company Directorships  
in Last 3 Years: 

none
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Siobhan l mckenna

(age 40)

Director of the Company since 26 June 2012. 

ms mckenna is managing partner of Illyria pty Ltd, a media 
investment company founded in 2005; non‑executive 
Director of nBn Co; non‑executive Director of DmG radio; 
Commissioner of the productivity Commission (currently 
on leave of absence); and non‑executive Director of the 
australian Ballet.

ms mckenna is a former partner of management consulting 
firm mckinsey & Company, a former Director of prime media 
Group and a former member of the advisory Board of the 
australian Bureau of meteorology.

Other Current Australian Listed Company Directorships: 

none

Former Australian Listed Company Directorships  
in Last 3 Years: 

prime media Group Limited (20 august 2009 – 
29 march 2012)

company Secretary

Stephen partington was appointed as Company Secretary 
of the ten Group pty Limited in october 1996 and as 
Company Secretary of ten network Holdings Limited in 
June 2001. He also held the position of Group General 
Counsel from 1996 to 2011.

Stephen graduated with a Bachelor of Commerce and 
Bachelor of Laws from the University of new South wales 
and masters of Laws from each of Sydney University and 
the University of technology, Sydney.

He is a fellow of Chartered Secretaries australia and a 
member of the australian Institute of Company Directors, 
the Law Society of new South wales and australian 
Corporate Lawyers association and has been admitted 
as a solicitor in new South wales since 1980.

directorS’ meetingS
the number of meetings of the Company’s Board of 
Directors and of each Board Committee held during the 
year ended 31 august 2012, and the number of meetings 
attended by each Director were:

DIreCtor’S name / 
aLternate name 
(IF appLICaBLe)

Date
appoInteD

Date
reSIGneD

meetInG oF
DIreCtorS

aUDIt /  rISk / 
treaSUrY

CommIttee
remUneratIon 

CommIttee

BoarD 
perFormanCe 
anD renewaL

CommIttee

meetings A b A b A b A b

Lk murdoch 13 / 12 / 10 Continuing 14 14 – – 4 3 1 1

BJ Long 01 / 07 / 10 Continuing 14 13 3 3 4 4 1 1

  DL Gordon (alternate) 21 / 06 / 12 Continuing 1 – – – – – –

JJ Cowin 03 / 04 / 98 Continuing 14 13 – – 4 4 1 1

  pv Gleeson (alternate) 22 / 11 / 10 Continuing 1 – – – – – –

pv Gleeson 16 / 02 / 98 Continuing 14 14 6 6 1 1 – –

  JJ Cowin (alternate) 10 / 12 / 10 Continuing – – – – – – –

Cw Holgate 01 / 04 / 10 Continuing 14 12 – – 3 3 – –

  DL Gordon (alternate) 14 / 12 / 10 Continuing 2 – – – – – –

DL Gordon 01 / 04 / 10 Continuing 14 14 – – 4 4 – –

DD Hawkins 01 / 04 / 10 Continuing 14 13 6 6 – – – –

  DL Gordon (alternate) 24 / 11 / 10 Continuing 1 – – – – – –

pr mallam 13 / 12 / 10 Continuing 14 14 6 6 – – – –

GH rinehart 13 / 12 / 10 Continuing 14 8 – – – – 1 1

  C edwardes (alternate) 22 / 06 / 12 10 / 09 / 12 2 – – – – – –

  JJ Cowin (alternate) 10 / 11 / 11 Continuing 4 – – – – – –

Jr warburton 10 / 02 / 12 Continuing 10 10 – – – – – –

SL mckenna 26 / 06 / 12 Continuing 2 2 – – – – – –

a  number of meetings held during the year during which the Director was in office

B number of meetings attended
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the information provided in this remuneration report has been audited as required by section 308(3C) of the Corporations 
act 2001.

board remuneration committee

the Board has established a remuneration Committee which reviews remuneration and incentive policies and practices 
and provides specific recommendations to the board on remuneration packages and other terms of employment for 
executive directors, and other senior executives. reviews are undertaken annually, taking into account competitor practices 
and performance. the Board approves remuneration for executive directors, other senior executives and non‑executive 
directors. the Corporate Governance Statement provides further information on the role of this Committee.

For the 2011/12 financial year, eBIt performance was significantly below expectations, as a result the remuneration 
Committee recommended that no StI payments should be made to participants.

as set out later in this report the remuneration committee has engaged a remuneration consultant and is in the process 
of establishing a new executive plan that will replace the existing short term incentive plan and long term incentive plan 
and be effective for the year ending 31 august 2013. the committee’s objective is to establish a single less complicated 
arrangement that better aligns the interests of the executives and shareholders.

relationship between remuneration and company Performance

Company performance is tabulated below:

ten network HoLDInGS perFormanCe 2008 – 2012

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

ebit ($m)* 68.4 146.9 178.9 117.6 180.0

dividends Paid (cps) 5.25 11.0 0.0 2.0 13.5

underlying ePS (cps)* 0.87 7.11 9.29 5.08 9.69

Share Price (As at 31 August) 0.39 0.94 1.37 1.25 1.70

*  earnings before interest and tax and underlying epS is before non‑recurring items in 2009, 2010, 2011 and 2012.

the Company’s current executive remuneration is related to performance through:

•	 a focus on financial indicators, measured primarily by eBIt before non‑recurring items, and non‑financial drivers of 
profit annually, plus relative total shareholder return and earnings per share growth over the longer term

•	 providing a significant proportion of this remuneration in performance rights and shares

•	 Deferring the vesting of shares subject to continued service premised on executives continuing to maintain high 
performance standards.

non‑executive director remuneration

total remuneration for all non‑executive Directors, last voted upon by shareholders at the 2007 aGm, is not to exceed 
$1 million per annum. actual total remuneration during 2011‑12 was $939,709.

Fees and payments to non‑executive Directors reflect the demands which are made on, and the responsibilities of, 
the Directors. the structure of these fees is shown in the table below. 

eFFeCtIve 1 JULY 2011 eFFeCtIve 1 SeptemBer 2012

CHaIr
DepUtY

CHaIr memBer  CHaIr
DepUtY

CHaIr memBer

Board $200,000 $110,000 $90,000 Board $180,000 $99,000 $81,000

audit $10,000 – $7,000 audit $10,000 – $7,000

remuneration $7,000 – $5,000 remuneration $7,000 – $5,000F
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the performance and renewal Committee has 
responsibility for reviewing and recommending the level 
of remuneration for non‑executive Directors in relation 
to Board and Committee duties. the Board approves 
remuneration for non‑executive Directors.

the non‑executive Directors do not participate in any share 
option plans or receive performance‑related remuneration.

remuneration for non‑executive Directors consists of 
annual fees, which include superannuation contributions, 
made in accordance with the superannuation guarantee 
legislation, for the Directors performing their duties on the 
Board of the Company and on various committees. 

there are no retirement allowances for non‑executive 
Directors.

Principles used to determine the nature and Amount 
of executive remuneration

the objective of the Company’s executive reward 
framework is to ensure reward for performance is 
competitive and appropriate for the results delivered. 
the framework aligns executive reward with achievement 
and sustainability of profit and the creation of value for 
shareholders. the Board ensures that executive reward 
satisfies the following key criteria for good reward 
governance practices:

•	 performance linkage / alignment of executive 
compensation

•	 transparency

•	 Capital management.

the Company has in previous years consulted with external 
remuneration consultants to structure an executive 
remuneration framework that is aligned with shareholders’ 
and executives’ interests.

alignment to shareholders’ interests was achieved by:

•	 Having earnings before interest and tax (eBIt) as a core 
component of plan design

•	 Including a focus on key non‑financial drivers of value

•	 requiring that a significant proportion of executive pay 
be received as performance rights

•	 Deferring vesting of most performance rights subject to 
continued service, market conditions and achievement 
of performance hurdles

•	 only retaining the service of high performing executives 
who continue to deliver results.

alignment to executives’ interests was achieved by:

•	 establishing a rewards basis that is fair given capability 
and experience

•	 reflecting individual and team performance

•	 providing a transparent structure for earning rewards

•	 providing recognition for contribution.

the framework currently provides a mix of fixed and 
variable pay, and a blend of deferred short and long term 
incentives. as executives attain more accountability 
within the group, the balance of this mix shifts to a higher 
proportion of “at risk” rewards. 

executive Pay framework

the current executive pay and reward framework has three 
components:

•	 Base pay and benefits

•	 Short‑term performance incentives, including deferred 
cash bonuses

•	 Deferred incentives through participation in the ten 
Long term Incentive plan.

the combination of these components comprises the 
executives’ total remuneration. 

base Pay and benefits

Base pay is structured as fixed remuneration that may be 
delivered as a combination of cash and salary packaged 
benefits including motor vehicles.

Base pay for senior executives is reviewed annually. 
external remuneration consultants periodically provide 
analysis and advice to ensure base pay is set to reflect 
the market for a comparable role. preference is given to 
matching pay with market levels of direct competitors if this 
information is available, rather than a broad based group of 
comparator companies.

Some executives have fixed annual base pay increases 
included as a term of their employment contract.

retirement benefits are delivered under defined 
contribution superannuation funds. 

Short‑term incentives (Short term incentive Plan 
terminated 31 August 2012)

Short‑term incentives are available through cash bonuses 
to certain executives as determined by the remuneration 
Committee. 

StI targets are established in each financial year with 
25% of the incentive dependent on group eBIt targets, 
as approved by the Board. the Board required eBIt must 
be achieved before payment of this 25%. the remainder 
is based on achievement of specific individual and 
leadership related targets, objectives and measures plus 
an assessment of individual contribution to the business. 
However, this remainder is paid out of an eBIt pool, so the 
potential that can be earned varies with the Company’s 
capacity to pay. eBIt is deemed to be the most appropriate 
measure in determining incentive remuneration in line with 
Company performance. Using a combination of financial 
and non‑financial targets ensures variable reward meets or 
exceeds shareholder and Board eBIt expectations for the 
fiscal year, while focussing on role specific non‑financial 
targets that directly contribute to the overall eBIt result, 
as tabulated below.
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eXeCUtIve keY perFormanCe meaSUreS For tHe 2012 FInanCIaL Year

Ceo Group eBIt, corporate development, financial management and revenue generation, 
ratings and digital performance, government policy, leadership and accountability 
objectives

Ceo eye Corp eye Corp eBIt, out of home performance and growth, cost control, business development

Chief programming officer television eBIt, network ratings performance, program development, financial 
management leadership and accountability objectives

Chief operating officer eBIt performance, commercial and financial management, broadcast technology, sport, 
legal and digital management, leadership and accountability objectives

Group Chief Financial officer eBIt performance, cost management, management of company corporate 
financial performance, investor relations, human resources and leadership and 
accountability objectives

Specific details regarding target requirements for each of 
these is commercially sensitive and is not to be disclosed.

performance against specific financial and non‑financial 
StI objectives for each executive is measured following 
a review tailored to each executive’s performance 
requirements and an executive assessment.

each executive has a target short‑term incentive 
opportunity depending on the accountabilities of the role 
and impact on organisation or business unit performance. 
For senior executives (other than the Group Ceo and Ceo 
– eye Corp) the maximum target bonus opportunity is 45% 
of fixed remuneration. 55% of the incentive is paid within 3 
months of the end of the financial year and the remaining 
45% of the incentive is paid in 2 equal tranches on or around 
the 12 and 24 month anniversary of the first payment date. 
the Group Ceo can receive up to a maximum bonus of 50% 
of fixed remuneration paid within 3 months of the end of 
the financial year. the Ceo – eye Corp can receive up to a 
maximum bonus of 35% of fixed remuneration paid within 
3 months of the end of the financial year.

each year, the remuneration Committee reviews both 
the prescribed targets for the forthcoming year and 
recommended payments for the completed year under 
the plan.

For the 2011 / 12 financial year, minimum eBIt requirements 
were not met due to company performance and difficult 
trading conditions and no StI payments were made to 
participants.

long term incentive Plan (ltiP) (long term incentive 
Plan terminated 31 August 2012)

the LtIp is provided to a limited number of executives and 
provides for awards of performance rights. these rights are 
subject to the following performance hurdles:

1. a relative total Shareholder returns (tSr) hurdle 
applies to 50% of the performance rights awarded. tSr 
measures change in the price of shares, plus dividends 
notionally re‑invested. ten’s tSr is measured against 
a comparator group of companies which make up 
the aSX 200 Consumer Discretionary Index as at the 
start of the performance period, on the basis that 
these companies are affected by similar business and 
economic factors as ten. In order for any part of the 
tSr grant to vest, ten’s tSr must be at or above 
the 51st percentile of the tSr of the companies in the 
comparator group. a sliding scale applies to the vesting 
of rights subject to this performance hurdle, with 50% 
of the rights vesting at the 51st percentile and 100% of 
the rights vesting at the 75th percentile, and straight‑line 
vesting in between these points.

2. an earnings per Share (epS) hurdle applies to the 
remaining 50% of the rights awarded. the epS 
performance condition is determined by reference 
to the cumulative basic earnings per share for ten 
aggregated over the performance period and measured 
against a specified epS aggregate target. the epS 
target is determined by applying a compound growth 
percentage to ten’s epS performance in the base 
year. of the performance rights subject to the epS 
performance condition, 50% vests in the event that 
the aggregate epS performance for ten over the 
performance period is equivalent to 4% compound 
growth and a sliding scale will apply to aggregate 
performance up to a cumulative growth in ten’s epS  
of 8% over the performance period, at which point 100% 
of the performance rights subject to this hurdle will vest. 
For the purposes of the grants made for the purposes of 
the 2011 financial year, earnings per share of 9.29 cents 
was used as the base. For the purposes of grants made 
for the 2012 financial year, earnings per share of 7.11 
cents was used as the base. F
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the performance hurdles are tested after three years from 
the date of grant. the LtIp allows for the hurdles to be re‑
tested once over an extended four year period (based on 
the performance from the date of grant) if the entire award 
has not vested at the end of the three year performance 
period. the Board considers that the opportunity for one 
re‑test of the hurdles is required due to the fluctuations that 
may impact ten’s performance associated with regular 
large events such as the broadcasts of the olympic and 
Commonwealth games.

rights which remain unvested after 4 years from the date  
of grant lapse immediately.

In the event the performance conditions are met, the LtIp 
performance rights will be automatically exercised and 
ten shares allocated to participants. ten will determine 
whether it will issue new ten shares or acquire ten shares 
on‑market to satisfy the rights.

If an executive resigns, or is dismissed for cause or poor 
performance, unvested awards will typically lapse. In other 
circumstances where the executive ceases employment, 
the awards will typically be pro‑rated for the length of 
performance period the executive was employed. the 
unvested awards will then be tested in accordance with  
the original vesting schedule, although the Board retains  
the discretion to accelerate vesting.

new shares which may in the future be issued under the 
terms of any ten employee share plan, in each case during 
the last five years, will not exceed 5% of ten’s issued capital 
from time to time.

In 2012, each performance right was valued by ernst & 
Young. the tSr (market conditions based) portion was 
valued using the monte‑Carlo simulation method. the epS 
(non‑market based) portion was valued using an analytic 
approach involving the Binomial tree methodology. the 
value of the epS performance rights to be expensed was 
then determined by assigning a probability percentage 
reflecting the likelihood of meeting the criteria set out 
above. this probability is re‑assessed at each half year  
and the unexpensed value is expensed.

the plan rules contain a restriction on removing the ‘at 
risk’ aspect of the instruments granted to executives. plan 
participants may not enter into any transaction designed to 
remove the ‘at risk’ aspect of an instrument before it vests.

legacy ten deferred incentive Plan

a limited number of senior executives were invited to 
participate in a deferred incentive share plan. the Company 
gave eligible employees an opportunity to participate in the 
ten Deferred Incentive plan (“DIp”) to encourage retention 
of high performing employees, provide a long term 
incentive to sustain and improve on prior performance  
and align employee interests with shareholder value.

Senior executives have not received allocations under this 
plan since 31 august 2010 due to their participation in the 
Long term Incentive plan. However, amounts allocated 
in prior years continue to vest in the current year in 
accordance with the conditions set out below.

Under the DIp rules, awards only vest subject to continued 
service premised on executives continuing to maintain 
high performance standards. continued service is assessed 
annually with a view to terminating service if high levels 
of performance are not maintained. In assessing this, 
allowance is given to external systemic factors, over which 
the executive does not have control. 

Shares equal to the incentive amount are bought on market 
upfront and vest in four equal tranches over three years. 
the first tranche vests on the date of purchase, with the 
next three tranches of shares vesting on or about each 
successive anniversary of the first acquisition date.

the plan rules contain a restriction on removing the ‘at 
risk’ aspect of the instruments granted to executives. plan 
participants may not enter into any transaction designed to 
remove the ‘at risk’ aspect of an instrument before it vests.

During employment by the Company the tranches of shares 
are subject to a trading lock and forfeiture conditions 
until vesting on the applicable anniversary of the first 
acquisition date. Following the vesting of any tranche of 
shares, executives may only deal with such shares subject  
to the approval of the Board remuneration Committee  
and having regard to the Company’s share trading policy.

use of remuneration consultants

In July 2012, the Company’s remuneration Committee 
employed the services of ernst & Young (eY) to review 
its existing remuneration policies and to provide 
recommendations in respect of both executive short‑term 
and long‑term incentive plan design.

these recommendations also covered the group’s 
key management personnel. Under the terms of the 
engagement, eY provided remuneration recommendations 
as defined in section 9B of the Corporations Act 2001 and 
was paid $77,308 for these services. eY has confirmed 
that the above recommendations have been made free 
from undue influence by members of the group’s key 
management personnel.F
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the following arrangements were made to ensure that 
the remuneration recommendations were free from 
undue influence:

•	 eY was engaged by, and reported directly to, the 
chair of the remuneration committee. the agreement 
for the provision of remuneration consulting services 
was executed by the chair of the remuneration 
committee under delegated authority on behalf 
of the board.

•	 the report containing the remuneration 
recommendations was provided by eY directly to the 
chair of the remuneration committee; and

•	 eY was permitted to speak to management throughout 
the engagement to understand company processes, 
practices and other business issues and obtain 
management perspectives.

as a consequence, the Board is satisfied that the 
recommendations were made free from undue influence 
from any members of the key management personnel.

eY have been engaged to advise on the development of  
a revised plan for the 2012/13 year.

details of remuneration

Amounts of Remuneration

Details of the nature and amount of each element of 
the emoluments of each Director of the Company and 
key management personnel of the consolidated entity 
for the year ended 31 august 2012 are set out in the 
following tables. 

Short‑term Benefits (including cash bonuses) and post‑
employment Benefits shown in the tables below represent 
amounts accrued and payable in relation to the respective 
financial years. 

In 2012, Senior executives, other than the Ceo – eye Corp, 
received performance rights allocated under the Long 
term Incentive plan. the 2012 remuneration table discloses 
the value of performance rights which were expensed 
into the statement of comprehensive income for the year 
in accordance with accounting standards. the table also 
includes the amount of DIp shares expensed during the 
year.

DIp shares vest to the recipients in accordance with the 
terms of the ten Deferred Incentive plan (set out above).

Directors of the Company

2012 SHort‑term BeneFItS

poSt‑
empLoY‑

ment
BeneFItS

SHare‑BaSeD
paYment

name

CaSH
SaLarY

anD FeeS
$

CaSH
BonUS

paYaBLe
$

motor
veHICLe

$
otHer

$

SUperan‑
nUatIon

$

SHareS
GranteD

$

otHer
SHareS

$
totaL

$

Lk murdoch a 105,092 – – – 8,937 – – 114,029

BJ Long 143,893 – – – 10,787 – – 154,680

JJ Cowin 88,991 – – – 8,009 – – 97,000

pv Gleeson 93,924 – – – 8,453 – – 102,377

Cw Holgate 84,975 – – – 7,648 – – 92,623

DL Gordon 87,156 – – – 7,844 – – 95,000

DD Hawkins 88,991 – – – 8,009 – – 97,000

pr mallam 88,991 – – – 8,009 – – 97,000

GH rinehart 82,569 – – – 7,431 – – 90,000

SL mckenna B – – – – – – – –

total 864,582 – – – 75,127 – – 939,709

a:  For the period 1 September 2011 to 31 December 2011 whilst mr murdoch was interim chief executive officer, a $1,300,000 management fee was 
paid to Illyria pty Limited (wholly owned by mr murdoch), for the professional services of mr Lk murdoch as Interim Chief executive officer to the 
Company. mr Lk murdoch did not participate in any employee share plans or receive performance‑related remuneration for his services as Interim 
Chief executive officer.

B:  ms mckenna was appointed as director effective 26 June 2012 and will receive directors fees from 1 September 2012.
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Other Key Management Personnel of the Consolidated Entity

2012 SHort‑term BeneFItS

poSt‑
empLoY‑

ment
BeneFItS SHare‑BaSeD paYment

name

CaSH
SaLarY

anD FeeS
$

CaSH
BonUS

paID 1

$

CaSH
BonUS

paYaBLe 1

$

motor
veHICLe

$
otHer

$

SUper‑
‑annU‑

atIon
$

perForm‑
‑anCe

rIGHtS
eXpenSeD 2

$

DIp
SHareS

eXpenSeD
$

otHer
SHareS

$
totaL

$

J warburton 6 

Chief executive 
officer 1,456,034 – – – – 10,633 287,764 – – 1,754,431

D mott 3 

Chief 
Programming 
officer 1,181,799 – – – 1,433,921 15,593 213,913 42,512 – 2,887,738

k kingston 4 

Chief operating 
officer 452,000 – – – 908,649 33,333 103,302 12,132 – 1,509,416

G thorley  
Chief executive 
officer – eye Corp 812,851 – – 43,333 – 15,891 – 4,713 – 876,788

p anderson  
Group Chief 
Financial officer 574,884 50,000 – – 1,869 25,116 104,418 22,208 – 778,495

J marquard 6 

Chief operating 
officer 400,454 – – – 1,869 13,262 33,334 – – 448,919

S partington 5 

Company 
Secretary 84,480 – – 4,946 415 7,755 10,921 9,222 1,110 118,849

total 4,962,502 50,000 – 48,279 2,346,723 121,583 753,652 90,787 1,110 8,374,636

1  only one cash bonus was paid early in the financial year.

2  In 2012, no DIp shares were purchased under the ten Deferred Incentive plan. Instead, key management personnel, other than the Ceo – eye Corp, 
received performance rights under the Long term Incentive plan.

  the amounts disclosed in the table above represent the accounting impact recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the financial 
year ended 31 august 2012 and have been calculated in line with aaSB 2 Share-Based Payment.

3  For the year ended 31 august 2012, mr D mott held the position of Chief programming officer up until 24 august 2012. Included in other Short‑
term Benefits are payments in accordance with his contract inclusive of cash salary until date of termination, statutory entitlements, pro‑rated 
deferred DIp allocations and pro‑rated deferred long term incentive entitlements.

4  For the year ended 31 august 2012, mr k kingston held the position of Chief operating officer up until 30 april 2012. Included in other Short‑term 
Benefits are payments in accordance with his contract inclusive of cash salary until date of termination, statutory entitlements, pro‑rated deferred 
DIp allocations and pro‑rated deferred long term incentive entitlements.

5  For the year ended 31 august 2012, mr S partington ceased to be a key management personnel on 21 november 2011. remuneration presented is 
for the period from 1 September 2011 to 21 november 2011.

6  mr J warburton commenced with the Company on 1 January 2012; mr J marquard commenced with the Company on 21 november 2011.
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2011 SHort‑term BeneFItS

poSt‑
empLoY‑

ment
BeneFItS

SHare‑BaSeD
paYment

name

CaSH
SaLarY

anD FeeS
$

CaSH
BonUS

paYaBLe
$

motor
veHICLe

$
otHer

$

SUperan‑
nUatIon

$

SHareS
GranteD

$

otHer
SHareS

$
totaL

$

BJ Long 159,460 – – – 13,422 – – 172,882

JJ Cowin 88,991 – – – 8,009 – – 97,000

pv Gleeson 96,330 – – – 8,670 – – 105,000

pD viner B 59,918 – – – – – – 59,918

Cw Holgate 82,569 – – – 7,431 – – 90,000

DL Gordon 89,478 – – – 8,053 – – 97,531

DD Hawkins 88,991 – – – 8,009 – – 97,000

pr mallam D 63,368 – – – 5,703 – – 69,071

JD packer a 18,097 – – – 1,629 – – 19,726

Lk murdoch C 17,585 – – – 1,583 – – 19,168

GH rinehart D 59,269 – – – 5,334 – – 64,603

total 824,056 – – – 67,843 – – 891,899

a mr packer was a director for the period 13 December 2010 to 2 march 2011. mr packer’s remuneration was donated at his request to charity.

B mr viner resigned as director effective 1 may 2011.

C  mr murdoch was appointed a director effective 13 December 2010. a $1,614,018 management fee was paid to Illyria pty Limited (wholly 
owned by mr murdoch), for the professional services of mr Lk murdoch as Interim Chief executive officer to the Company since 23 February 
2011. mr Lk murdoch did not participate in any employee share plans or receive performance‑related remuneration for his services as Interim 
Chief executive officer. 

D ms rinehart and mr mallam were appointed as directors effective 13 December 2010.
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2011 SHort‑term BeneFItS

poSt‑
empLoY‑

ment
BeneFItS SHare‑BaSeD paYment

name

CaSH
SaLarY

anD FeeS
$

CaSH
BonUS

paID 1

$

CaSH
BonUS

paYaBLe 1

$

motor
veHICLe

$
otHer

$

SUper‑
‑annU‑

atIon
$

perForm‑
‑anCe

rIGHtS
eXpenSeD 2

$

DIp
SHareS

eXpenSeD
$

otHer
SHareS

$
totaL

$

n Falloon 6 
executive 
Chairman 330,801 – – – 3,367,582 19,384 – – 205,479 3,923,246

D mott  
Chief 
Programming 
officer 959,846 174,413 142,702 – 5,607 15,295 92,537 100,592 – 1,490,992

k kingston  
Chief operating 
officer 660,951 105,811 86,572 – – 43,716 80,889 61,501 – 1,039,440

G thorley  
Chief executive 
officer – eye Corp 784,543 65,308 53,433 65,000 – 48,788 – 25,707 – 1,042,779

p anderson  
Group Chief 
Financial officer 455,115 79,939 65,405 – 5,607 25,000 46,865 51,981 – 729,912

S partington 
Group General 
Counsel and 
Company 
Secretary 360,448 61,899 50,645 22,288 11,214 23,995 49,213 51,758 5,000 636,460

G Blackley 3 
Chief executive 
officer 611,018 – – – 2,330,728 7,600 268,668 104,847 – 3,322,861

D white 5 
General Manager 
Sport 341,893 – – – 620,357 33,333 196,851 47,581 5,000 1,245,015

J kelly 4 
Group Chief 
Financial officer 298,079 – – 18,319 930,862 12,500 110,360 30,439 – 1,400,559

total 4,802,694 487,370 398,757 105,607 7,271,957 229,611 845,383 474,406 215,479 14,831,264

1  Cash bonuses are in respect of the financial year ended 31 august 2011. of this Short term incentive, 55% was paid within three months of year end. 
the remaining 45% of the incentive is payable in 2 equal tranches on or around the 12 and 24 month anniversary of the first payment date.

2  In 2011, no DIp shares were purchased under the ten Deferred Incentive plan. Instead, key management personnel, other than the Interim Ceo – 
ten and the Ceo – eye Corp, received performance rights under the Long term Incentive plan.

  the amounts disclosed in the table above represent the accounting impact recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the financial 
year ended 31 august 2012 and have been calculated in line with aaSB 2 Share-Based Payment.

3  For the year ended 31 august 2011, mr G Blackley held the position of Chief executive officer up until 24 February 2011. Included in other 
Short‑term Benefits are payments in accordance with his contract following the Company giving notice of termination.

4  For the year ended 31 august 2011, mr J kelly held the position of Group Chief Financial officer up until 18 march 2011. Included in other Short‑term 
Benefits are payments in accordance with his contract following the Company giving notice of termination.

5  For the year ended 31 august 2011, mr D white held the position of General manager Sport up until 22 april 2011. Included in other Short‑term 
Benefits are payments in accordance with his contract following the Company giving notice of termination.

6  For the year ended 31 august 2011, mr n Falloon held the position of executive Chairman up to 10 December 2010. Included in other Short‑term 
Benefits are payments in accordance with his contract following the Company giving notice of termination.
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Directors’ Report continued

remunerAtion rePort Continued
the proportion of incentives that were payable, vested and forfeited are as follows:

2012 SHort term InCentIveS SHareS / perFormanCe rIGHtS

name
paYaBLe

%
ForFeIteD

% 
Year

GranteD
veSteD

%
ForFeIteD

%

mInImUm
vaLUe 

($)

maXImUm
vaLUe

($)

J warburton 0 100 2012 0 – nil 863,291

D mott 0 100 2012 0 – nil 376,709

2011 0 – nil 277,610

2010 50 – nil 100,100

2009 75 – nil 38,501

k kingston 0 100 2012 0 – nil 228,537

2011 0 – nil 242,666

2010 50 – nil 87,500

2009 75 – nil 33,251

p anderson 0 100 2012 0 – nil 172,658

2011 0 – nil 140,594

2010 50 – nil 50,695

2009 75 – nil 19,687

S partington 0 100 2012 0 – nil –

2011 0 – nil 147,638

2010 50 – nil 51,187

2009 75 – nil 19,687

J marquard 0 100 2012 0 – nil 122,224

From 2011 onward, Senior executives, other than G thorley, received performance rights under the Long term Incentive 
plan. performance hurdles are tested 3 years after grant date with an opportunity to re‑test 4 years after grant date. If the 
hurdles are met, the performance rights attached to the hurdles will vest at that time. rights which remain unvested after 
4 years from the date of grant are forfeited immediately.

Up until 2010, shares were granted to Senior executives under the DIp plan. these shares vest equally each year over 
3 years. 

no amount of the unvested portion will vest if the service and market conditions are not satisfied, hence the minimum value 
of the shares and performance rights yet to vest is nil. the maximum value of the shares and performance rights yet to vest 
represents the grant fair value at the time of purchase. 

the fair value of each performance right granted in 2011 was calculated by ernst and Young to be $0.80 for the market 
based portion and $1.28 for the non‑market based portion (an average value of $1.04 for each performance right).

the fair value of each performance right granted in 2012 was calculated by ernst and Young to be $0.49 for the market 
based portion and $0.75 for the non‑market based portion (an average value of $0.62 for each performance right). 
refer to page 34 for more information.
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remunerAtion rePort Continued
Details of shares provided as remuneration are set out below:

Other Key Management Personnel of the Consolidated Entity

nUmBer oF DIp SHareS
pUrCHaSeD DUrInG 

tHe Year

nUmBer oF DIp SHareS
veSteD DUrInG 

tHe Year

name 2012 a 2011 a 2012 2011

J warburton  –  – – –

D mott  –  – 113,600 132,680

k kingston  –  – 105,442 119,988

G thorley  –  – 52,412 73,950

p anderson  –  – 60,505 69,485

S partington  –  – 58,920 70,249

J marquard  –  – – –

G Blackley  –  – – 248,046

D white  –  – – 78,715

J kelly  –  – – 93,000

a:  there were no DIp Shares granted for the year ended 31 august 2012 and 2011 year. Instead, performance rights were allocated under the 

conditions set out on page 34. 

Other Key Management Personnel of the Consolidated Entity

nUmBer oF DIp SHareS
pUrCHaSeD DUrInG 

tHe Year

nUmBer oF DIp SHareS
veSteD DUrInG 

tHe Year

name 2012 a 2011 B 2012 2011

J warburton 1,392,405 – – –

D mott 607,595 266,933 – –

k kingston 368,608 233,333 – –

G thorley – – – –

p anderson 278,481 135,187 – –

S partington – 141,960 – –

J marquard 197,136 – – –

G Blackley – 515,515 – –

D white – 189,280 – –

J kelly – 212,231 – –

a:  the number of performance rights granted was for the year ended 31 august 2012.

B:  the number of performance rights granted was for the year ended 31 august 2011.
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remunerAtion rePort Continued

Service Agreements

remuneration and other terms of employment for the 
key management personnel of the consolidated entity 
receiving the highest emoluments are formalised in service 
agreements. each of these agreements provide for the 
provision of short‑term performance‑related incentives, 
other benefits including car leases and participation when 
eligible, in the ten Long term Incentive plan and the ten 
Deferred Incentive plan. major provisions of the agreements 
relating to remuneration are set out below.

James Warburton, chief executive officer

term of agreement – commencing 1 January 2012 and 
ending on 1 January 2015.

•	 effective 1 January 2012 fixed remuneration, inclusive 
of superannuation is $2,200,000.

•	 Short‑term incentives are available under a short‑term 
incentive scheme equivalent to 50% of fixed remuneration 
on achievement of specific StI targets weighted heavily 
to the financial performance of the Group and are also 
inclusive of leadership and corporate objectives.

•	 Long term incentives are available through participation 
in the ten Long term Incentive plan equivalent to 50% 
of fixed remuneration on achievement of performance 
hurdles with a 3 year vesting period.

•	 ten may terminate the contract at any time by providing 
twelve months’ fixed remuneration.

•	 Immediate termination by ten for cause or breach of 
contract is restricted to fixed remuneration and leave 
unpaid at the date of termination.

gerry thorley, chief executive officer – eye corp

term of agreement – commencing 1 January 2007.

•	 effective 1 January 2007 fixed remuneration, inclusive of 
superannuation is $725,000 increasing to $754,000 on 
1 January 2008, $784,160 on 1 January 2009, $848,147 
on 1 January 2011 and $873,591 on 1 January 2012.

•	 Short‑term incentives are available under a short‑
term incentive scheme equivalent to 35% of fixed 
remuneration on achievement of specific StI targets 
weighted heavily to the financial performance of the 
Group and are also inclusive of leadership and corporate 
development objectives.

•	 Deferred incentives equivalent to 20% of fixed 
remuneration are available through participation in the 
ten Deferred Incentive plan.

•	 eye Corp may terminate the contract at any time by 
providing twelve months’ fixed remuneration.

•	 Immediate termination by eye Corp for cause or breach 
of contract is restricted to fixed remuneration and leave 
unpaid at the date of termination.

•	 21 days notice may be given by the employee if there 
is a substantive change to his role.

•	 a payment equivalent to twelve months’ fixed 
remuneration must be paid if there is a substantive 
change in his role leading to termination.

•	 Six months notice of termination may be given by 
mr thorley on or after the fourth anniversary of the 
commencement date.

Paul Anderson, group chief financial officer

term of agreement – 2 years commencing 1 January 2011.

•	 Fixed remuneration, inclusive of superannuation, for 
the year commencing 1 January 2011 of $450,000, 
increasing to $550,000 on 21 march 2011. Short‑
term incentives are available under a deferred 
short‑term incentive scheme equivalent to 45% of 
fixed remuneration on achievement of specific StI 
targets. these targets include eBIt performance, cost 
management, commercial and strategic management 
and leadership objectives.

•	 Deferred incentives are available through past 
participation in the ten Deferred Incentive plan.

•	 Long term incentives are available through participation 
in the ten Long term Incentive plan equivalent to 40% 
of fixed remuneration on achievement of performance 
hurdles with a 3 year vesting period.

•	 Immediate termination for cause or breach of contract is 
restricted to fixed remuneration and leave unpaid at the 
date of termination.

•	 payment of termination benefit on early termination by 
the employer shall be the lesser of 12 months’ notice or 
the balance of the contract.

•	 100% of the eligible StI is paid on a pro rata basis by 
reference to the period not worked in the Financial Year 
and subject to same performance targets that apply.

•	 100% of the eligible LtI is paid on a pro rata basis by 
reference to the period not worked in the vesting period 
and subject to same performance conditions and 
vesting dates that apply.

term of agreement – 2 years and 10 months commencing 
1 March 2012.

•	 Fixed remuneration, inclusive of superannuation, for the 
year commencing 1 march 2012 of $650,000, increasing 
to $700,000 on 1 January 2013 and $735,000 on 1 
January 2014. Short‑term incentives are available under 
a deferred short‑term incentive scheme equivalent to 
45% of fixed remuneration on achievement of specific 
StI targets. these targets include eBIt performance, 
cost management, commercial and strategic 
management and leadership objectives.

•	 Deferred incentives are available through past 
participation in the ten Deferred Incentive plan.

•	 Long term incentives are available through participation 
in the ten Long term Incentive plan equivalent to 40% 
of fixed remuneration on achievement of performance 
hurdles with a 3 year vesting period.

•	 Immediate termination for cause or breach of contract is 
restricted to fixed remuneration and leave unpaid at the 
date of termination.

•	 payment of termination benefit on early termination by 
the employer shall be the lesser of 12 months’ notice or 
the balance of the contract.

•	 100% of the eligible StI is paid on a pro rata basis by 
reference to the period not worked in the Financial Year 
and subject to same performance targets that apply.

•	 100% of the eligible LtI is paid on a pro rata basis by 
reference to the period not worked in the vesting period 
and subject to same performance conditions and 
vesting dates that apply.
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remunerAtion rePort Continued

Jon marquard, chief operating officer

term of agreement – Rolling contract commencing 21 
november 2011.

•	 Fixed remuneration, inclusive of superannuation, for the 
year ending 31 December 2012 of $500,000,

•	 Short‑term incentives are available under a deferred 
short‑term incentive scheme equivalent to 45% of 
fixed remuneration on achievement of specific StI 
targets. these targets include eBIt performance, cost 
management, commercial and legal management and 
leadership objectives.

•	 Long term incentives are available through participation 
in the ten Long term Incentive plan equivalent to 40% 
of fixed remuneration on achievement of performance 
hurdles with a 3 year vesting period.

•	 Immediate termination for cause or breach of contract is 
restricted to fixed remuneration and leave unpaid at the 
date of termination.

•	 payment of termination benefit on termination by the 
employer and employee shall be 3 months’ notice.

•	 100% of the eligible StI is paid on a pro rata basis by 
reference to the period not worked in the Financial Year 
and subject to same performance targets that apply.

•	 100% of the eligible LtI is paid on a pro rata basis by 
reference to the period not worked in the vesting period 
and subject to same performance conditions and 
vesting dates that apply.

term of agreement – 3 years commencing 19 March 2012.

•	 Fixed remuneration, inclusive of superannuation, for 
the year commencing 19 march 2012 of $550,000, 
increasing to $600,000 on 19 march 2013 and subject to 
review on 19 march 2014

•	 Short‑term incentives are available under a deferred 
short‑term incentive scheme equivalent to 45% of fixed 
remuneration on achievement of specific StI targets. 
these targets include eBIt performance, commercial 
and financial management, broadcast technology, 
sport, legal and digital management and leadership and 
accountability objectives

•	 Long term incentives are available through participation 
in the ten Long term Incentive plan equivalent to 40% 
of fixed remuneration on achievement of performance 
hurdles with a 3 year vesting period.

•	 Immediate termination for cause or breach of contract is 
restricted to fixed remuneration and leave unpaid at the 
date of termination.

•	 payment of termination benefit on early termination by 
the employer shall be the lesser of 6 months’ notice or 
the balance of the contract.

•	 100% of the eligible StI is paid on a pro rata basis by 
reference to the period not worked in the Financial Year 
and subject to same performance targets that apply.

•	 100% of the eligible LtI is paid on a pro rata basis by 
reference to the period not worked in the vesting period 
and subject to same performance conditions and 
vesting dates that apply.
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non‑Audit ServiceS
the consolidated entity may decide to employ the auditor 
on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties 
where the auditor’s expertise and experience with the 
Company and / or the consolidated entity are important.

Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor 
(pricewaterhouseCoopers) for audit and non‑audit services 
provided during the year are set out below.

the Board of Directors has considered the position and, in 
accordance with the advice received from the audit /  risk /  
treasury Committee, is satisfied that the provision of the 
non‑audit services is compatible with the general standard 
of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations 

act 2001. the Directors are satisfied that the provision of 
non‑audit services by the auditor, as set out below, did not 
compromise the auditor independence requirements of the 
Corporations act 2001 for the following reasons:

•	 all non‑audit services have been reviewed by the audit /  
risk /  treasury Committee to ensure they do not impact 
the impartiality and objectivity of the auditor

•	 none of the services undermine the general principles 
relating to auditor independence as set out in apeS 110 
Code of ethics for Professional Accountants.

During the year the following fees were paid or payable for 
services provided by the auditor of the consolidated entity, 
its related practices and non‑related audit firms:

ConSoLIDateD

2012
$

2011
$

(a) Pricewaterhousecoopers Australia

Audit and other assurance services

 audit and review of financial reports and other audit work under the Corporations Act 2001 480,500 541,330

 other audit related services 257,374 120,615

taxation Services

 tax compliance services 162,750 283,547

 other tax services 140,022 –

other services

 advisory services 72,125 92,625

total remuneration of pricewaterhouseCoopers australia 1,112,771 1,038,117

(b) related practices of Pricewaterhousecoopers Australia

Audit and other assurance services

 audit and review of financial reports 46,947 68,073

 other audit related services 8,387 12,110

other services

 taxation services 83,412 117,376

total remuneration of related practices of pricewaterhouseCoopers australia 138,746 197,559

total auditors’ remuneration 1,251,517 1,235,676

Auditor
pricewaterhouseCoopers continues in office in accordance 
with section 327 of the Corporations act 2001.

Auditor’S indePendence declArAtion
a copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as 
required under section 307C of the Corporations act 2001 
is set out on page 46.

contrActS With directorS
During the financial year, various agreements in respect 
of the sale of television airtime (through an advertising 
agency), sale of out‑of‑Home advertising space, purchase 
of program rights, provision of consultancy services 
were entered into by Director related entities on normal 
commercial terms and conditions. 

inSurAnce of officerS
During the financial year, the Company arranged for 
directors and officers liability insurance cover for officers 
of the Company and related parties. an insurance premium 
was paid in relation thereto. the officers of the Company 
covered by this insurance includes all Directors and all 
employees in positions of responsibility.

the Directors have not included details of the nature 
of the liabilities covered or the amount of the premium 
paid in respect of the directors’ and officers’ insurance 
contracts as such disclosure is prohibited under the terms 
of the contract.
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indemnificAtion of officerS
the Company has entered into deeds to indemnify each 
Director of the Company in accordance with the approval 
given at the annual General meeting of the Company held 
on 7 December 1999.

In broad terms, the deeds of indemnity entrench a Director’s 
rights to:

•	 access the books and records of the Company which 
relate to the period the Director acted as a Director of 
the Company;

•	 be indemnified by the Company to the maximum extent 
permitted by law; and

•	 require the Company to take out an appropriate 
directors’ and officers’ insurance policy to protect 
the Director from liability (to the maximum extent 
permitted by law).

Separately, a deed of indemnity has been provided by 
the ten Group pty Limited to Directors and officers of that 
company and its controlled entities.

additionally, separate deeds of indemnity cover other 
executives of controlled entities who have been requested 
to act as directors on the boards of other companies in 
which the Group holds an interest.

no liability has arisen under these indemnities at the date 
of this report.

environmentAl regulAtionS
the consolidated entity is not subject to significant 
environmental regulations.

rounding of AmountS to neAreSt 
thouSAnd dollArS
the Company is of a kind referred to in Class order 98 / 100, 
issued by the australian Securities and Investments 
Commission, relating to the “rounding off” of amounts in 
the directors report. amounts in the directors’ report have 
been rounded off in accordance with that Class order to 
the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, to the 
nearest dollar.

Signed in Sydney on 18 october 2012 in accordance with 
a resolution of the Directors.

Lk murdoch

Chairman
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration

as lead auditor for the audit of ten network Holdings Limited for the year ended 31 august 2012, I declare that to the best 
of my knowledge and belief, there have been:

a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and

b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

this declaration is in respect of ten network Holdings Limited and the entities it controlled during the period.

SG Horlin

partner

pricewaterhouseCoopers Sydney 
   18 october 2012
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Five Year Summary 
For the year ended 31 August 2012

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

results as reported     

revenue ($m)   

 television 728.0 851.8 833.4 744.4 826.2

 out of Home 137.2 148.5 158.1 158.1 177.8

865.2 1,000.3 991.5 902.5 1,004.0

eXPenSeS ($m)   

 television 645.6 697.7 640.3 603.5 618.3

 out of Home 125.6 130.1 143.1 148.0 170.7

771.2 827.8 783.4 751.5 789.0

ebitdA ($m)   

 television 82.4 154.1 193.1 140.9 207.9

 out of Home 11.6 18.4 15.0 10.1 7.1

94.0 172.5 208.1 151.0 215.0

tv ebitdA mArginS 11.3% 18.1% 23.2% 18.9% 25.2%

ebit ($m)   

 television 64.0 136.1 174.7 119.5 186.9

 out of Home 4.4 10.8 4.2 (1.9) (6.9)

68.4 146.9 178.9 117.6 180.0

underlying eArningS Per ShAre  
(cents per share)

Basic epS 0.87 7.11 9.29 5.08 9.69

Diluted epS 0.87 7.10 9.27 5.06 9.69

dividendS Per ShAre (cents per share)

normal 5.3 6.0 0.0 2.0 13.5

Special 0.0 5.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

total 5.3 11.0 0.0 2.0 13.5

net debt ($m) 263.1 415.9 357.0 444.7 604.1

totAl ShAreholderS’ equity ($m) 941.8 807.8 902.3 748.2 766.3
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Statement of Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended 31 August 2012

diScuSSion And AnAlySiS of the 
StAtement of comPrehenSive income
In July 2012, the Company announced it had entered into 
a Share purchase agreement to sell eye Corp pty Limited 
to outdoor media operations pty Limited (“omo”). on 
17 october 2012, the Company announced that it received 
formal notice from omo purporting to terminate this Sale 
purchase agreement. while the Company has reserved 
its legal position regarding the purported termination, the 
Company and omo remain in discussions with the aim of 
agreeing amended sale terms. 

accordingly, the results relating to the operation to be sold 
have been reported separately as “profit from discontinued 
operations”. the operations to remain with ten network 
Holdings Limited are considered to be “profit from continuing 
operations”. Included in discontinued operations is a non‑
recurring impairment loss of $12.3m to write down the eye 
Corp disposal group to estimated fair value less costs to sell.

the consolidated entity’s revenue from continuing 
operations for the year ended 31 august 2012 was $726.7m, 
a decrease of 14.7% on 2011 revenue of $851.7m.

the 2012 result from continuing operations included $11.4m 
of restructuring costs. these charges are non‑recurring 

and relate primarily to the write down of the Company’s 
investment in ourDeal pty Limited ($7.8m). they also 
include redundancy costs in the television segment ($3.6m).  

the income tax revenue associated with these costs was 
$1.1m, bringing the net effect of restructuring costs to $10.3m.

the 2011 result included $85.4m of restructuring costs. 
these charges are non‑recurring and consist of staff 
redundancy costs for both the television and out‑of‑Home 
segments, restructuring charges incurred as part of the 
operating and Strategic review, and onerous contract 
provisions. It also includes legal costs which the Company 
has agreed to pay for the proceedings brought against, and 
by, its Chief executive designate.

the income tax revenue associated with these costs 
was $25.5m, bringing the net effect of restructuring 
costs to $60.0m.

Finance costs for 2012 include a $5.5m notional non‑cash 
interest charge in relation to the unwinding of the provision 
for onerous contracts.

excluding non‑recurring items, underlying net profit after 
tax for the year ended 31 august 2012 was $9.7m, down 
86.9% from $74.1m in 2011.

ConSoLIDateD

note
2012

$’000
2011

$’000

revenue from continuing operations 3 726,707 851,660

other income 3 2,253 2,964

television costs (658,537) (714,690)

restructuring costs 4 (3,585) (83,357)

write‑down of investments 4 (7,843) –

Finance costs (37,501) (34,459)

Share of net loss of joint ventures accounted for using the equity method (5,172) (906)

profit before income tax 16,322 21,212

Income tax (expense) (10,148) (7,123)

profit from continuing operations 6,174 14,089

(Loss)/profit from discontinued operations (10,374) 3,562

(loss)/Profit for the year (4,200) 17,651

(Loss)/profit is attributable to:

(Loss)/profit attributable to members of the Company  (12,871) 14,176

profit attributable to non‑controlling interests 8,671 3,475

(loss)/Profit for the year (4,200) 17,651

other comprehensive income

aaSB 139 hedge reserves (748) (778)

exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (418) 1,891

total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year, net of tax (5,366) 18,764

total comprehensive (loss)/income attributable to members of ten network Holdings Limited (14,037) 15,289

total comprehensive income attributable to non‑controlling interests 8,671 3,475

total comprehensive (loss)/income attributable to members of ten network holdings limited (5,366) 18,764

Continuing operations (3,190) 9,837

Discontinued operations (10,847) 5,452

(14,037) 15,289

the above statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Balance Sheet
As at 31 August 2012

diScuSSion And AnAlySiS of the bAlAnce Sheet
Significant balance sheet items were:

•	 In July 2012, the Company announced it had entered into an agreement to sell eye Corp pty Limited to outdoor media 
operations pty Limited (“omo”). on 17 october 2012, the Company announced that it received formal notice from omo 
purporting to terminate this Sale purchase agreement. while the Company has reserved its legal position regarding the 
purported termination, the Company and omo remain in discussions with the aim of agreeing amended sale terms. 

accordingly, the assets and liabilities of the operation to be sold have been separately classified as held for sale.

•	 Current borrowings include the USD private placement loan which matures in march 2013. the derivative financial 
instruments associated with this loan have also been classified as current.

•	 non‑current borrowings consist of the aUD private placement loan which matures in December 2015.

•	 the movement in contributed equity is the result of the recent equity raising. the gross proceeds of approximately $200m 
were offset by ancillary costs to the raising and the net of these amounts has been recognised in contributed equity. 

  the proceeds were used to repay drawn bank debt to the maximum extent possible with the balance held as cash at bank.

ConSoLIDateD

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 93,297 19,069

receivables 113,349 191,332

program rights and inventories 149,021 177,947

Current tax assets 7,522 –

other 3,192 13,052

assets classified as held for sale 159,389 –

total current Assets 525,770 401,400

non‑current Assets

program rights and inventories 3,203 3,545

other financial assets 4,882 8,765

property, plant and equipment 62,065 84,570

Intangible assets 1,077,822 1,171,411

Deferred tax assets – 8,448

other 335 1,138

total non‑current Assets 1,148,307 1,277,877

total Assets 1,674,077 1,679,277

current liabilities

payables 137,613 194,551

Borrowings 123,261 –

Derivative financial instruments 91,206 461

provision for Income tax – 7,247

provisions 42,646 54,680

Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held for sale 47,975 –

total current liabilities 442,701 256,939

non‑current liabilities

payables 17,791 11,599

Borrowings 150,000 348,153

Derivative financial instruments 6,042 95,570

Deferred tax liabilities 70,926 84,442

provisions 44,827 74,736

total non‑current liabilities 289,586 614,500

total liabilities 732,287 871,439

net Assets 941,790 807,838
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Balance Sheet continued

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

equity

Contributed equity 2,555,527 2,356,548

reserves (1,205,788) (1,203,365)

accumulated losses (420,047) (348,825)

Capital and reserves attributable to equity holders of the Company 929,692 804,358

non‑controlling interests 12,098 3,480

total equity 941,790 807,838

the above balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 August 2012

ContrI‑
BUteD

eqUItY
$’000

eqUItY
reServe

$’000

otHer
reServeS

$’000

aCCUmU‑
LateD

LoSSeS
$’000

totaL
$’000

non‑
ControLL‑

InG
IntereSt

$’000

totaL
 eqUItY

$’000

balance at  
1 September 2011 2,356,548 1,840 (1,205,205) (348,825) 804,358 3,480 807,838

(Loss)/profit for 
the year – – – (12,871) (12,871) 8,671 (4,200)

other comprehensive 
(loss)/income – – (1,113) – (1,113) (53) (1,166)

total comprehensive 
(loss)/income for 
the year – – (1,113) (12,871) (13,984) 8,618 (5,366)

Contributions 
of equity net of 
transaction costs 197,171 – – – 197,171 – 197,171

Issue of shares 
held by employee 
Share trust 1,808 – (2,374) – (566) – (566)

employee share 
plan expense – – 1,064 – 1,064 – 1,064

Dividends paid – – – (58,351) (58,351) – (58,351)

balance at  
31 August 2012 2,555,527 1,840 (1,207,628) (420,047) 929,692 12,098 941,790

balance at 
1 September 2010 2,355,888 – (1,205,568) (248,025) 902,295 5 902,300

profit for the year – – – 14,176 14,176 3,475 17,651

other comprehensive 
income – – 1,113 – 1,113 – 1,113

total comprehensive 
income for the year – – 1,113 14,176 15,289 3,475 18,764

transaction with non‑
controlling interest – 1,840 – – 1,840 – 1,840

Issue of shares 
held by employee 
Share trust 660 – (3,119) – (2,459) – (2,459)

employee share 
plan expense – – 2,369 – 2,369 – 2,369

Dividends paid – – – (114,976) (114,976) – (114,976)

balance at  
31 August 2011 2,356,548 1,840 (1,205,205) (348,825) 804,358 3,480 807,838

the above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Cash flow Statement
For the year ended 31 August 2012

diScuSSion And AnAlySiS of the cASh floW StAtement
total cash and its equivalents of $93.3m as at 31 august 2012 was $74.2m higher than the prior year.

Cash inflows from operating activities of $41.8m are $54.7m lower than the prior year. 2012 cash inflows were impacted by 
a decrease in earnings. additionally, the 2011 cash flows included a tax refund of $26.6m relating to the restatement of prior 
year tax returns to reflect changes in tax consolidations.

Cash outflows from investment activities of $26.1m are $14.4m lower than the prior year, reflecting a decrease in capital 
expenditure during the current year.

Cash inflows from financing activities of $62.3m are $112.0m higher than the prior year outflow of $49.7m. this is primarily 
the result of the equity raising where net proceeds of $196m was received ($200m of gross proceeds from the placement 
of shares were offset by $4.0m of ancillary costs). these net proceeds were used to pay drawn bank debt to the maximum 
extent possible with the remainder being held as cash at bank. additionally, there was a reduction in the dividends paid for 
2012 compared to the prior year.

ConSoLIDateD

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

net increase in cash and cash equivalents

 Cash on hand 90 90

 Cash at bank 93,207 18,979

at end of year 93,297 19,069

at beginning of year 19,069 12,998

Cash held by discontinued operation 3,640 –

effects of exchange rate movements on cash and cash equivalents 81 238

net cash inflows for the year 77,949 6,309

cash flows from operating activities

 receipts from customers (inclusive of GSt) 993,851 1,080,455

 payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of GSt) (888,779) (955,015)

 Interest received 1,218 2,968

 Bank interest paid (30,499) (30,708)

 treasury costs paid (3,392) (2,859)

 Income tax received / (paid)

  prior year refunds received – 26,645

  Current year payments (30,609) (24,949)

 net cash inflows from operating activities 41,790 96,537

cash flows from investment activities

 acquisition of property, plant and equipment (23,150) (34,157)

 proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 455 17

 Dividends received 1,000 –

 proceeds from sale of investment 1,410 530

 payments for other investments (5,855) (6,907)

net cash outflows from investment activities (26,140) (40,517)

cash flows from financing activities

 net proceeds from issue of shares 196,000 –

 Dividends paid (58,351) (114,976)

 proceeds from non‑controlling interest – 1,840

 proceeds from borrowings 415,000 435,350

 repayment of borrowings (490,350) (370,000)

 refinancing costs – (1,925)

net cash inflows /  (outflows) from financing activities 62,299 (49,711)

net cash inflows for the year 77,949 6,309

the above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 August 2012

1 bASiS of PrePArAtion of the conciSe finAnciAl rePort
the Concise Financial report has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations act 2001, 
accounting Standard aaSB 1039: Concise Financial Reports and applicable Urgent Issues Group Consensus views.

the accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous year. a full description of the accounting policies 
adopted by the consolidated entity may be found in the consolidated entity’s Full Financial report.

2 PreSentAtion currency
the presentation currency used in this concise financial report is australian dollars.

ConSoLIDateD

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

3 revenue
revenue from continuing operations

Sales revenue 726,707 851,660

726,707 851,660

other income

Interest 1,253 2,964

Dividend 1,000 –

2,253 2,964

4 non‑recurring itemS
Included in television and out‑of‑home costs in the income statement are the following non‑recurring expense and tax 
items:

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

non‑recurring expense items

restructuring costs 3,585 85,436

writedown of Investment 7,843 –

Impairment loss of discontinued operations 12,263 –

non‑recurring tax items

tax impact of non‑recurring expense items (1,075) (25,483)

22,616 59,953

the Company had $23.7m of non‑recurring costs during the year ended 31 august 2012. these charges are one off and relate to 
an impairment loss to writedown the eye Corp disposal group to estimated fair value less costs to sell ($12.3m), the writedown 
of the Company’s investment in ourDeal pty Limited ($7.8m) and redundancy costs in the television segment ($3.6m).

the Company had $85.4m of one‑off charges for the year ended 31 august 2011 which are non‑recurring and consist of 
staff redundancy costs for both the television and out‑of‑Home segments, restructuring charges incurred as part of the 
operating and Strategic review, and onerous contract provisions. It also includes costs which the Company agreed to pay 
for the proceedings brought against, and by, its Chief executive.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 August 2012

5 dividendS
Dividends proposed or paid by the Company are:

CentS per
SHare

totaL 
amoUnt

$’000
Date oF 

paYment

taX rate For
FrankInG

CreDIt
perCentaGe

FrankeD

2012

november dividend paid

ordinary Dividend 5.25 54,875 30 november 2011 30% 100%

2011

november dividend paid

ordinary Dividend 6.0 62,714 19 november 2010 0% 0%

Special Dividend 5.0 52,262 19 november 2010 0% 0%

a dividend of $3,475,754 was paid to CBS Studio Inc. on 19 December 2011 which is their share of elevenCo pty Limited’s 
2011 net profit.

no dividend for 2012 is expected to be paid. 
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6 Segment informAtion
management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the Chief executive officer that 
are used to make strategic decisions. In 2012, due to the sale of eYe, the out‑of‑Home segment has been removed from 
both the current year and comparative segment disclosure and has been classified as a discontinued operation. the Chief 
executive officer assesses the performance of the operating segments based on adjusted eBItDa.

inter‑segment transactions

Segment revenues, expenses and results include transactions between segments. Such transactions are priced on an 
“arms length” basis and are eliminated on consolidation.

geographical segments

the consolidated entity operates principally within australia.

Segment information provided to the ceo

2012
teLevISIon

$’000

eLImInatIonS / 
UnaLLoCateD

$’000
ConSoLIDateD

$’000

revenue

Sales to external customers 726,707 – 726,707

Inter‑segment sales 277 (277) –

total sales revenue 726,984 (277) 726,707

other revenue 2,253 – 2,253

total revenue 729,237 (277) 728,960

Segment result

adjusted eBItDa* 82,412 – 82,412

Depreciation (18,414) – (18,414)

adjusted eBIt* 63,998 – 63,998

non‑recurring expense items (note 4) – – (11,428)

Finance costs (37,501)

Interest revenue 1,253

profit before tax 16,322

Income tax (expense) /  revenue

 normal (11,223)

 non‑recurring tax items 1,075

profit from continuing operations 6,174

Assets

Segment assets 1,505,598 9,090 1,514,688

liabilities

Segment liabilities 684,312 – 684,312

acquisitions of non‑current assets 15,858 – 15,858

* Before non‑recurring itemsF
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 August 2012

6 Segment informAtion Continued

2011
teLevISIon

$’000

eLImInatIonS / 
UnaLLoCateD

$’000
ConSoLIDateD

$’000

revenue

Sales to external customers 851,660 – 851,660

Inter‑segment sales 179 (179) –

total sales revenue 851,839 (179) 851,660

other revenue 2,964 – 2,964

total revenue 854,803 (179) 854,624

Segment result

adjusted eBItDa* 154,095 – 154,095

Depreciation (18,031) – (18,031)

adjusted eBIt* 136,064 – 136,064

non‑recurring expense items (note 4) (83,357) (83,357)

Finance costs (34,459)

Interest revenue 2,964

profit before tax 21,212

Income tax (expense) / revenue

 normal (32,055)

 non‑recurring tax items 24,932

profit from continuing operations 14,089

Assets

Segment assets 1,507,563 9,090 1,516,653

liabilities

Segment liabilities 801,593 – 801,593

acquisitions of non‑current assets 23,998 – 23,998

* Before non‑recurring items
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7 SubSequent eventS
on 17 october 2012, the Company announced that it received formal notice from outdoor media operations pty Limited 
(“omo”) purporting to terminate the Share purchase agreement relating to the sale of eye Corp pty Limited.  

while the Company has reserved its legal position regarding the purported termination, the Company and omo remain in 
discussions with the aim of agreeing amended sale terms. 

no other matters or circumstances have arisen since balance date that have significantly affected or may significantly affect:

•	 the operations in financial years subsequent to 31 august 2012 of the consolidated entity; or

•	 the results of those operations; or

•	 the state of affairs in financial years subsequent to 31 august 2012 of the consolidated entity.
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Directors’ Declaration

In the opinion of the Directors of ten network Holdings Limited the accompanying Concise Financial report of the 
consolidated entity, comprising ten network Holdings Limited and its controlled entities, for the year ended 31 august 2012, 
set out on pages 48 to 57:

(a) has been derived from or is consistent with the Full Financial report for the financial year; and

(b) complies with accounting Standard aaSB 1039: Concise Financial Reports.

the Concise Financial report is an extract from the full financial report for the year ended 31 august 2012. the financial 
statements and specific disclosures included in the concise financial report have been derived from the full financial report.

the Concise Financial report cannot be expected to provide as full an understanding of the financial performance, financial 
position and financing and investing activities of the consolidated entity as the Full Financial report, which is available 
on request.

SIGneD at Sydney on 18 october 2012 in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

Lk murdoch Jr warburton 
Chairman Chief executive officer

Sydney Sydney 
18 october 2012 18 october 2012
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rePort on the conciSe finAnciAl rePort
we have audited the accompanying concise financial report of ten network Holdings Limited (the company) which 
comprises the balance sheet as at 31 august 2012, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended and related notes, derived from the audited financial report of the company 
for the year ended 31 august 2012 for the ten network Holdings Limited Group (the consolidated entity). the concise 
financial report does not contain all the disclosures required by the australian accounting Standards and accordingly, 
reading the concise financial report is not a substitute for reading the audited financial report.

directors’ responsibility for the concise financial report

the directors are responsible for the preparation of the concise financial report in accordance with accounting Standard 
aaSB 1039 Concise Financial Reports, and the Corporations Act 2001, and for such internal control as the directors 
determine are necessary to enable the preparation of the concise financial report.

Auditor’s responsibility

our responsibility is to express an opinion on the concise financial report based on our audit procedures which were 
conducted in accordance with auditing Standard aSa 810 engagements to Report on Summary Financial Statements. 
we have conducted an independent audit, in accordance with australian auditing Standards, of the financial report of 
ten network Holdings Limited (the consolidated entity) for the year ended 31 august 2012. we expressed an unmodified 
audit opinion on that financial report in our report dated 18 october 2012. the australian auditing Standards require that 
we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance whether the financial report for the year is free from material misstatement.

an audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the concise 
financial report. the procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the concise financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the concise financial report in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control.

our procedures include testing that the information in the concise financial report is derived from, and is consistent with, 
the financial report for the year, and examination on a test basis, of audit evidence supporting the amounts and other 
disclosures which were not directly derived from the financial report for the year. these procedures have been undertaken 
to form an opinion whether, in all material respects, the concise financial report complies with aaSB 1039 Concise 
Financial Reports.

we believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

independence

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001. we confirm 
that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been given to the directors of ten 
network Holdings Limited would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the date of this auditor’s report.

Independent Auditor’s Report 
to the members of Ten Network Holdings Limited
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Auditor’s opinion

In our opinion, the concise financial report of the company for the year ended 31 august 2012 complies with australian 
accounting Standard aaSB 1039: Concise Financial Reports.

report on the remuneration report

the following paragraphs are copied from our report on the remuneration report for the year ended 31 august 2012.

we have audited the remuneration report included in pages 32 to 43 of the directors’ report for the year ended 31 august 
2012. the directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the remuneration report in 
accordance with section 300a of the Corporations Act 2001. our responsibility is to express an opinion on the remuneration 
report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with australian auditing Standards.

pricewaterhouseCoopers

SG Horlin

partner 18 october 2012

Independent Auditor’s Report continued
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voting rightS
on a show of hands, ordinary shareholders present or by 
proxy at a general meeting of the Company have one (1) 
vote each. on a poll, shareholders have one (1) vote for each 
share held.

mAXimum ShAreholder limitAtionS
there is no maximum limitation on shareholdings under the 
Company’s Constitution. 

In april 2007, amendments to the Broadcasting Services 
act (BSa) commenced, resulting in the removal of 
restrictions on foreign ownership and the replacement of 
the cross media rules (which had prevented a person from 
controlling a commercial television broadcasting licensee, 
a commercial radio licence and an associated licence in the 
same licence area) with prohibitions on:

•	 unacceptable media diversity situation – basically that the 
number of “points” in a licence area may not be less than 
5 in metropolitan licence areas and 4 in regional licence 
areas or there is a further reduction in the points; and

•	 an unacceptable 3‑way control situation – basically a 
person controlling more than 2 out of 3 of a commercial 
television broadcasting license, a commercial radio licence 
and an associated licence in the same licence area.

while the notion of control has not changed under the BSa 
(and is deemed to exist at a company interest of 15% or 
more), there are a wider range of circumstances in which 
a person may be in breach of the BSa and where it is 
appropriate for the divestiture provisions in the Company’s 
Constitution to operate.

the BSa provides that ownership restrictions must be 
included in the constitutions of commercial television 
broadcasting companies licensed under the BSa to ensure 
that the licensee is empowered to deal with any breach 
of the BSa. Similar provisions are also required in the 
Company’s Constitution as it controls such licensees.

Under the terms of the Company’s Constitution, the 
Board of the Company is able to exercise certain rights 
requiring shareholders to divest some or all of their 
shareholding interest in the Company or otherwise remove 
the contravention of part 5 of the BSa (without recourse 
for any loss incurred by the actions of the Company) in 
circumstances relating to the holding of the shares or 
where an entity controlling or associated with a shareholder 
contravenes or would contravene part 5 of the BSa.  

the provisions may require shareholders who lawfully 
acquire their shares, to divest some or all of their 
shareholding interest in the Company if that holding (along 
with other associated media interests) would otherwise 
preclude the ten group of companies acquiring or 
maintaining media interests. 

the Directors consider that there is a need for such a 
divestment power in order to ensure that the ten group 
of companies is not precluded from seeking to expand its 
media interests in the future, where any such acquisition 
would otherwise result in an unacceptable media diversity 
or 3 way control situation referred above, due to any 
interests held by a shareholder in other media groups. 
anyone seeking to obtain control (as defined under the 
BSa) of the Company or acquire a company interest of 15% 
or more should carefully consider these provisions.

ShAre regiStry
Link market Services Limited Locked Bag a14
Level 12 Sydney South  nSw  1235
680 George Street telephone: 1300 554 474
Sydney  nSw  2000 From outside australia:  
 +61 2 8280 7111
 Facsimile: +61 2 9287 0303
 email: registrars@  
 linkmarketservices.com.au

ServiceS for ShAreholderS
For services or any information on your shareholding, 
including direct payment of dividends, you may access the 
Share registry by internet www.linkmarketservices.com.au

AnnuAl revieW And ShAreholder 
notificAtionS
the Company writes to all new shareholders offering them 
the opportunity to “opt‑in” to receive future annual reports. 
In the absence of any “opt‑in” response, a shareholder 
will be notified at the time that notices of annual general 
meetings are mailed to shareholders in future, that the 
Company’s annual review is available on the Company’s 
website www.tencorporate.com.au . 

Shareholders can alternatively elect to receive regular 
communications from the Company by email.

the Company supports the use of electronic 
communications in seeking to protect the environment 
by minimising unnecessary paper usage as part of its 
environment strategy known as “making Your mark”.

Stock eXchAnge liSting
ten Holdings’ ordinary shares are listed on the australian 
Stock exchange under code ten.

dividend reinveStment PlAn
ten Holdings does not operate a dividend reinvestment 
plan as at the date of this report.

ShAre buybAck
there is no on‑market share buyback as at the date of 
this report.

diStribution of holdingS

no. oF SHareS

no. oF  
SHare‑

HoLDerS
totaL 
UnItS

1 – 1,000 4,820 2,920,223

1,001 – 5,000 8,661 23,804,057

5,001 – 10,000 3,030 23,493,859

10,001 – 100,000 3,341 91,972,055

100,001 and over 306 1,295,014,679

total 20,158 1,437,204,873

Shareholder Information
Ten Network Holdings Limited as at 18 October 2012
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dividend hiStory

DIvIDenD 
amoUnt  

(CpS) % FrankeD

2003 January 6.5 100%

July 5.0 100%

2004 January 9.5 (ordinary) 100%

5.5 (special) 100%

July 8.5 100%

2005 January 12.5 100%

July 9.0 100%

2006 January 12.0 100%

July 4.0 (ordinary) 100%

3.5 (special) 100%

2007 January 9.0 100%

July 4.0 100%

2008 January 10.0 100%

July 3.5 100%

2009 January 2.0 100%

2010 november 6.0 (ordinary) 0%

5.0 (special) 0%

2011 november 5.25 100%

2012 no dividend

locAtion of ShAreholderS   

LoCatIon oF SHareHoLDerS
no. oF 

SHareHoLDerS
no. oF  

SHareS

Australia

new South wales 7,505 897,409,546

a.C.t. 375 2,687,190

victoria 5,252 292,852,669

queensland 3,312 66,984,835

South australia 1,245 12,686,237

western australia 1,971 159,852,883

tasmania 246 1,383,696

northern territory 36 238,064

new Zealand 77 1,613,432

rest of World 139 1,496,321

total 20,158 1,437,204,873

Shareholder Information continued
Ten Network Holdings Limited as at 18 October 2012
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toP 20 ShAreholderS  

HoLDer name %

Birketu pty Ltd 186,642,873 12.99

Hanrine Investments pty Ltd 143,720,049 10.00

Cavalane Holdings pty Ltd 128,455,877 8.94

Illyria nominees television pty Limited <Illyria Investment no. 4 a/C> 128,455,877 8.94

rBC Investor Services australia nominees pty Limited <pI pooLeD a/C> 102,332,436 7.12

national nominees Limited 98,678,992 6.87

J p morgan nominees australia Limited 77,939,454 5.42

Citicorp nominees pty Limited 52,779,791 3.67

J p morgan nominees australia Limited <Cash Income a/C> 48,484,926 3.37

Bnp paribas noms pty Ltd <master Cust Drp> 44,409,956 3.09

HSBC Custody nominees (australia) Limited 43,018,064 2.99

Birketu Investments pty Ltd 27,500,000 1.91

Citicorp nominees pty Limited <Colonial First State Inv a/C> 18,635,272 1.30

allard Services pty Ltd 16,753,775 1.17

rBC Investor Services australia nominees pty Limited <GSam a/C> 16,080,561 1.12

rBC Investor Services australia nominees pty Limited <pIIC a/C> 14,736,390 1.03

UBS nominees pty Ltd 12,243,570 0.85

CS Fourth nominees pty Ltd 10,671,972 0.74

UCa Growth Fund Limited 9,625,000 0.67

qIC Limited 8,208,389 0.57

total for top 20 1,189,373,224 82.76

total issued ordinary fully Paid Shares 1,437,204,873

leSS thAn mArketAble PArcel   
as at the close of trading on 18 october 2012, ten’s share price was $0.30. Based on this closing price, there were 6,757 
holders (holding a total of 5,604,052 shares) who held less than a marketable parcel of ten shares, being 1,666 shares.

SubStAntiAl ShAreholderS   

name
 IntereSt* 
 %

 eXtent oF  
 HoLDInGS*

 Date oF LaSt  
 notIFICatIon

perpetual Limited and its subsidiaries 13.81 198,421,815 18 october 2012

Commonwealth Bank 5.01 71,964,878 1 october 2012

James Douglas packer & Consolidated  
press Holdings Limited** 17.88

186,844,912 (direct 
holding 93,422,456) 24 november 2010

Lachlan keith murdoch and Illyria nominees television  
pty Ltd as trustee of Illyria Investment trust no. 4** 17.88

186,844,912 (direct 
holding 93,422,456) 23 november 2010

mrs Georgina Hope rinehart and Hancock prospecting 
pty Ltd and subsidiaries of HppL 10.01 104,613,672 22 november 2010

Birketu pty Ltd 14.02 146,559,823 19 november 2010

* as at date of last notification

** these parties have indicated at the time of lodgement of their notifications that they propose to act in concert in relation to the exercise of votes 
attached to their Shares and they intend to agree customary pre‑emptive rights in favour of each other and such other matters as they determine 
appropriateF
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Financial Calender
Ten Network Holdings Limited

Corporate Directory
Ten Network Holdings Limited Offices

SePtember 2012 – AuguSt 2013

Beginning of the new financial year 1 September 2012

preliminary financial results released to the australian Securities exchange 18 october 2012

annual General meeting 6 December 2012

Close of the first half of the financial year 28 February 2013

release of half‑yearly results april 2013

end of financial year 31 august 2013

the annual general meeting of ten Holdings will be held on thursday, 6 December, 2012, at the Wesley theatre, 
lower ground floor, Wesley centre, 220 Pitt Street, Sydney, commencing 11:00 am.

netWork ten officeS
registered office

1 Saunders Street 
pYrmont nSw 2009 
ph +61 2 9650 1010 
Fax +61 2 9650 1111 
www.tencorporate.com.au

company Secretary

Stephen partington

Sydney

1 Saunders Street 
pYrmont nSw 2009 
ph +61 2 9650 1010 
Fax +61 2 9650 1111

melbourne

Como Centre 
620 Chapel Street 
SoUtH Yarra vIC 3141 
ph +61 3 9275 1010 
Fax +61 3 9275 1011

brisbane

Sir Samuel Griffith Drive 
mt Coot‑tHa qLD 4066 
ph +61 7 3214 1010 
Fax +61 7 3369 3786

Adelaide

80 Hutt Street 
aDeLaIDe Sa 5000 
ph +61 8 8225 1010 
Fax +61 8 8225 1011

Perth

Cottonwood Crescent 
DIaneLLa wa 6059 
ph +61 8 9345 1010 
Fax +61 8 9344 8076

Parliament house, canberra

Suite 5265 
parliament House aCt 2600 
ph (02) 6215 4000 
Fax (02) 6215 4001
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Ten Network Holdings Limited 
Annual Review 2012

ABN: 14 081 327 068
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